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The purpose of this study is to explore the representation of national political 

freedom on web interface design by using power distance, one of the culture 

dimensions identified by Geert Hofstede, as a measurement. This study also aims to 

determine if there are any differences between government-based websites and 

business-oriented websites in representing national political freedom. 

 A pilot study was conducted to validate ten power distance indicators identified 

from previous research on cultural dimensions with the intent of establishing a 

measurement for determining a country’s national political freedom on web content and 

interface design. The result showed that six out of ten proposed indicators are valid 

power distance indicators. The seventh indicator, symmetric layout, demonstrated that 

its Web representation correlates with national political freedom level. Consequently, 

the principal research applied these seven indicators in coding 312 websites selected 

from 39 countries and analyzed national political freedom represented on these 

websites with content analysis method. The result of two-way analysis of variance 

(ANOVA) indicated that large differences exist in web interface design, which in turn 

reflects the aforementioned national political freedom. 

The research showed that the mean effect of freedom level between free-country 

group, partly-free-country group and not-free-country group was statistically significant 

(p = .003). So was the mean effect of website type between government-based and 



business-oriented websites (p = .000). Furthermore, the interaction between the 

freedom level and website type was also significant (p = .041). Therefore, we conclude 

that web interface design represents a country's political freedom and government-

based websites embody more of a nation's authority and supremacy than business-

oriented websites do. It is expected that this study furthers our exploration in culture 

dimensions on web interface design and advances our knowledge in sociological and 

cultural studies of the web. 
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CHAPTER 1 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

Introduction 
 
 

With the rapid increase of global communication and economic exchange on the 

Internet, various regions and communities across the globe are now connected using 

this technology. The Internet has become one of the most important vehicles of 

communication by which we express our opinions and thoughts. A Webpage, especially 

the homepage, is one of the most popular means for an organization or a business 

entity to disseminate its information to the public. It also has become the most important 

channel through which the organization establishes its own existence and value. As a 

result, the Webpage has grown to be one of the most dependable resources for 

information-seeking endeavors. 

As computer-based communication has taken its lead in global information 

exchange, Web developers and researchers have become aware of the inevitable 

impact of local culture traits on user interface design. In fact, Web interfaces not only 

reflect the linguistic aspects (language, date and time formats) of the country, but also 

represent the culture characteristics (values, morals, and ethics) of the norm (Ford & 

Gelderblom, 2003). Therefore, it has become necessary to identify fundamental 

international cultural dimensions, with which local cultural characteristics can be 

analyzed and compared. In this way, Web designers and analysts are able to design 
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user interfaces in such a way that the interfaces coordinate with local cultures in order 

to achieve the Website’s optimal effects. 

Language has been considered one of the most powerful means for 

interpersonal, international, and intercultural communications. Several studies have 

explored the relationships between language, culture, reality, and thought, laying a solid 

theoretical foundation for the study of cultural representation in user interface design. 

Ludwig Wittgenstein’s picture theory of meaning states that language reflects reality and 

mirrors the world (1953, 2003). The theory of semiotics, led by Swiss linguist Ferdinand 

de Saussure and American philosopher Charles Sanders Peirce, claims that language, 

one of the forms of a “sign," not only represents reality, but also bears its own social 

convention and cultural elements (Chandler, 2002; Eco, 1976; Jakobson, 1971; Ogden 

& Richards, 1923; Peirce, 1931-58; Saussure, 1966). Furthermore, the Sapir-Whorf 

hypothesis, named after American linguists Edward Sapir and Benjamin Lee Whorf, 

asserts that the structure of language reflects and even determines our way of thinking 

and viewing the world. Language is the symbolic guide to culture. By studying language, 

the cultural elements embedded within will be revealed (Sapir, 1963, 1964; Whorf, 

1988).  

In response, several cultural models have been developed in culture studies 

during the past decade (Hall & Hall, 1989; Hofstede, 2001; Hofstede & Hofstede, 2005; 

Hoft, 1996; Stewart & Bennett, 1991; Trompenaars & Hampden-Turner, 1998). Among 

these models, after analyzing surveys conducted in 72 countries, Geert Hofstede 

developed five primary cultural dimensions to assist in differentiating cultures. The five 

cultural dimensions are power distance, collectivism versus individualism, femininity 
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versus masculinity, uncertainty voidance, and long-term versus short-term orientation. 

Subsequently, Marcus and Gould (2000) extended Hofstede’s cultural theory to Web 

interface design. Their study illustrated how each of Hofstede’s five cultural dimensions 

is represented on Web pages through examples from several different countries. Gould, 

Zakaria and Yusof (2000) compared culture orientations and design preferences of 

Malaysian and U.S. Websites with Hofstede’s cross-cultural model and Marcus’s Web 

application theory. Singh and his colleagues in recent years have also applied 

Hofstede’s cultural dimensions with Marcus and Gould’s vision in their pragmatic 

research for the purpose of validating cultural value framework and analyzing cultural 

content on various country Websites (Singh, Kumar & Baack, 2005; Singh, Zhao & Hu, 

2003, 2005).  

While we examine the cultural and social attributes characterized on a Website, 

one of the most important areas to consider is its power/authority representation. Since 

power and authority create a special social feature for a society's culture, the dominant 

groups in the society influence all cultures to some extent. Therefore, power becomes 

one of the aspects of culture. As power and culture are the two inseparable 

fundamentals in the study of a society, the analysis of a culture is associated with the 

examination of power relations within a society. The Webpage, a communicative form of 

the language, inevitably represents, constructs, and reproduces both social and cultural 

inequality. As a result, power distance, one of the five cultural dimensions defined by 

Geert Hofstede, has received a great amount of interest by researchers.  

Since Marcus and Gould (2000) first defined seven indicators on Web interface 

design representing Hofstede’s power distance, Gould et al. (2000) have concluded 
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three other power distance indicators from Malaysian Websites. Consequently, Singh et 

al. (2003, 2005) also presented six cultural categories in their research. However, these 

power distance indicators have never been validated systematically and statistically as 

the defining indicators for representing power/authority or national political freedom on 

Web interface design. In this research, a pilot study, aimed at validating these 10 power 

distance indicators, analyzed four college/university Websites from each of the 39 

countries selected from the list of Freedom in the World: Independent Countries 2007 

published by Freedom House (Appendix A). It intends to explore a new approach of 

assessing national political freedom. As a result, the validated indicators might be used 

in future studies as a set of measuring tools to evaluate a nation's political freedom level. 

In this way, a country's national freedom can be analyzed not only by the traditional 

methods of surveys, questionnaires, and interviews, but also by the study of the power 

distance indicators represented on Web interface design. Later on, these validated 

indicators were applied in the principal research to substantiate whether national 

political freedom is represented on Web interface design. The principal research also 

intends to determine if government-based Websites and business-oriented Websites 

represent national political freedom on the same level. Previous studies have involved 

business-oriented Websites in the study of cultural dimensions to investigate the 

effectiveness and customers' response on cross-cultural marketing and advertisement. 

However, no study has made an effort to explore the differences among various types 

of Websites and their unique representations of cultural dimensions. The comparison 

between government-based Websites and business-oriented Websites on national 

political freedom representation in this study serves as the first to explore the 
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differences among diverse Website sectors of cultural representation on Web interface 

design. It is believed that a government agency represents the power of its government 

and a business entity aims to provide goods or services to its customers. Thus, the 

purpose of a government-based Website is to introduce its officials and its policy to the 

public and to reflect the authority of the agency, while the function of a business-

oriented Website is to sell its merchandise and introduce its services to customers. 

Therefore, the construction of these two types of Websites may not be the same. Based 

on this assumption, this research intends to find out whether these two different types of 

Websites respond the same in representing national political freedom. A close cross-

sectional examination of the Web interface design from 39 countries with 312 

government-based and business-oriented Websites was conducted to fulfill this purpose.  

By examining national political freedom represented on the Webpage, this study 

not only provides an insight into culture dimensions and Web interface design, but also 

extends the study of cross-cultural communication to the field of human-computer 

interaction and their usability within culture. Furthermore, the Web analysis of this 

cultural framework extends to more than 70 countries as well as to two Website sectors 

(government-based and business-orientated) in the pilot study and the principal 

research combined. Through this analysis, this research will provide a framework for 

future investigations in evaluating cultural dimensions in different Website sectors, such 

as university/college Websites, news and media Websites, entertainment Websites, and 

sports Websites and so on. Web interface designers will be able to consider validated 

power distance indicators in designing culturally adapted Websites for their international 

users. Information scientists, sociologists, and anthropologists will also find this 
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research helpful in promoting understanding between cultures by examining Webpage’s 

characteristics.  

 

Research Questions 
 
 
 By employing power distance as a measurement for national political freedom, 

this research focuses on the following questions: 

1. To what extent is a country’s political freedom represented on Web 

interface design? 

2. Does any statistical difference exist between a country’s government-

based Websites and its business-oriented Websites in representing its 

political freedom? 

 

Delimitations 
 
 

This study confines itself to analyzing national political freedom from Websites 

selected from 39 countries based on the country listing Freedom in the World: 

Independent Countries 2007 provided by Freedom House, although there are other 

published listings, which may not assign the freedom levels for these countries in the 

same way. The criteria variables (power distance indicators) are based on the previous 

studies conducted by Marcus and Gould (2000), Gould et al. (2000), and Singh et al. 

(2003, 2005). The author validated these variables in the pilot study conducted before 

the principal research. 
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Limitations 
 
 
 This study randomly selects three countries from each of the 13 freedom levels 

(from Level 1.0 to Level 7.0) and conducted data analysis of 288 Websites (excluding 

24 Websites from Level 4.0) based on the country listing Freedom in the World: 

Independent Countries 2007. It defines a culture by its country, despite the fact that 

diverse ethnicity and cultural groups exist within a country boundary, and that some 

cultural groups may exist across countries. Nevertheless, as the purpose of this study 

intends to measure a nation’s political freedom represented on its Website design, the 

boundary set for national culture also serves its purpose well. In addition, the visits to 

each Website for data collection purposes are limited to a specific period. Because of 

the constant modifications on Websites’ content and design features, changes may 

occur before or after the data collection period. 

 

Definition of Related Terms 
 
 

Cultural dimensions are international cultural variables used to describe an 

aspect of a culture or to compare the similarities and differences of more than two 

cultures. 

 

 National political freedom measures "freedom of religion, expression, and 

assembly; freedom from torture; and the right to take part in the government of his or 

her country" (Freedom House, n.d.). According to Freedom House, this definition is 

originated from the Universal Declaration of Human Rights adopted by the United 
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Nations General Assembly in 1948 and is measured by the progress or decline of 

freedom and democracy in political rights and civil liberties experienced by individuals, 

not by government performance (Freedom House, n.d.). This study applies the measure 

of freedom from Freedom House. The conceptual variable Freedom is described in 

detail in Chapter 3. 

 

 Power distance is one of the five cultural dimensions defined by Geert Hofstede 

to identify cultural differences in mental programming. It is “the extent to which the less 

powerful members of institutions and organizations within a country expect and accept 

that power is distributed unequally” (Hofstede & Hofstede, 2005, p. 46). It measures the 

mental distance between an employee and the “boss” of an organization, indicates how 

subordinates respond to power and authority, and assesses the degree of equality or 

inequality between people in a society. A high power distance ranking for a society 

indicates strong inequality of power and wealth among members, whereas a low power 

distance ranking suggests the society places less emphasis on power and social status. 

There are ten power distance indicators identified in the previous study. These 

ten indicators are: 

• Symmetric layout measures the degree of axial symmetries shown on Web 

interface design. In this study, it examines the design of the homepage.  

• Special title specifies the frequent appearance of the high ranks recognized in 

the society. It usually appears before a person's name, such as Honorable, 

His/Her Majesty, H.E., and so forth.  
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• Monumental building refers to the pictures of main buildings placed on Web 

pages, indicating the pride of the organization.  

• Official stamp/logo checks the frequency and location of the official 

stamp/logo appeared on the Webpage.  

• Authority figure counts the frequency and the location of the authority figures 

of an organization appeared on the Webpage.  

• Symbol of nationalism or religion examines any religious remarks or national 

symbols that indicate the pride of the nation and the religion.  

• Link to information about the leaders of the organization examines which 

Webpage level contains the information about the leaders. This indicates the 

mental structure of the society and the importance the society views the 

leaders of the organization. 

• Security barrier, not accessible checks whether there is any security barrier 

established to block the access of certain information. This indicator signifies 

the accessibility of Webpage visitors and indicates the privilege of the higher 

authority. 

• Manager section forbidden for access accounts the appearance of the special 

links placed on the Website, which restrict the access of certain information 

from Web visitors. However, WebCT links are not included in this category 

since they are designed especially for educational purpose. 

• Information arranged according to the management hierarchy examines the 

link arrangement on the navigation bar. 
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Logo Links to the 

administration 

Symmetric 
layout 

Authority 
figures 

Monumental 
building 

Figure 1.   University of Dohuk homepage (Iraq). Freedom Level 6.0 in not-free-country 

group at http://www.dohukuni.net/home.htm. Accessed September 24, 2008. Used 

with permission. 
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Examining the homepage of University of Dohuk (Iraq) shown in Figure 1, one 

can see that it features strong axial symmetry. Official seal of the university appears on 

every Webpage. Photographs of administrative leaders are shown in the center of the 

homepage repetitively, which has put a great emphasis on leaders and administrators. 

A monumental building is also introduced in the center of the homepage. The menu bar 

on the left is arranged according to the management hierarchy with President and 

University Board in the first group of links. However, no symbols of nationalism or 

religion are found on this Website. Special titles, either religious or political, are not 

present either. 

 As mentioned above, power distance identified by Hofstede measures the mental 

distance between the less powerful members of the society and their authority. It is 

often used to assess the equality and inequality between the authority and the 

subordinate. The ten power distance indicators aim to apply this measurement on Web 

interface design. On the other hand, national political freedom assessed and identified 

through traditional survey method by Freedom House is a measurement for the freedom 

and democracy experienced by the individual, not by government performance. Since 

both of these concepts reflect on how the individual perceives his/her freedom level in 

the society, this research uses power distance indicators as dependent variables in 

measuring Website representation of national freedom. Subsequently, it checks the 

result against the national political freedom levels presented in the Freedom in the 

World: Independent Countries 2007 (Appendix A). In this way, this study examines the 

assumption that a country's national political freedom level collected by traditional 

surveys corresponds with its freedom level obtained by examining power distance 
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indicators represented on Web interface design. If this assumption is satisfied, a 

conclusion may be drawn that Web interface design represents a country’s national 

political freedom and that a country’s national political freedom level can be assessed 

by examining its collections of Websites. 

 

Summary 
 
 
 This chapter has provided background information of this research effort. It 

consists of addressing the research problems leading to this study, briefly over-viewing 

major literatures, identifying deficiencies in this research area, and stating the research 

questions. It also has stated the purpose and the importance of this proposed study. 

Both the delimitations and limitations are identified. Definitions of related terms are also 

included, covering terms from the discipline of culture research. 

The following chapters will provide an in-depth review of theoretical foundations 

supporting this research, the methodology used to carry out the principal research, and 

the result of data analysis. 
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CHAPTER 2 
 

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE 

 
 

Introduction 
 
 

 With the intention of introducing background information and related research to 

support this study, this chapter presents the fundamental theories gathered from other 

related research fields, as well as current research development trends in the same 

area. It starts with the discussion of linguistic and philosophical theories on language, 

culture and reality, including Wittgenstein’s picture theory of meaning, the theory of 

semiotics and the Sapir-Whorf hypothesis. These postulations explore in great depth 

the relationships between culture and its representation in language. In addition, this 

chapter gives an overview of the main concepts and theories in cross-cultural 

communication by providing an outline of the major works in this area. More research 

on culture and user interface design, especially Geert Hofstede’s model on cultural 

dimensions, is presented towards the end of the section.  

 

Language, Reality, and Culture 
Philosophical, Psychological, and Linguistic Interpretations on their Interrelations 

 
 

The interrelations between language, reality, and culture have been explored in a 

great depth from philosophical, psychological, and linguistic perspectives. Wittgenstein's 
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picture theory of meaning and his subsequent language game theory, the theory of 

semiotics, and Sapir-Whorf hypothesis have elaborated the relations from three different 

viewpoints. 

Wittgenstein (2003) stated that sentences in language, or mental 

representations, are pictures of facts. In his view, the logical structure of words 

corresponds to the actual structure in reality. The unique combination of words and 

sentences acts as a measure of the truthfulness of the reality (Hopkins, 2004). 

Wittgenstein asserted that it is with language that we picture the world. In his unique 

way, Wittgenstein provided us with a view that language (linguistic representation) not 

only reflects pictures (mental representation), but also mirrors all the aspects of reality. 

However, in his later works, Wittgenstein (1953, 1958) realized that the function of 

language alone could not mirror the reality. He augmented his earlier theory by saying 

that language cannot simply be perceived as a one–to-one mapping to the object in the 

world. Instead, it should be understood and perceived from the social context in which it 

is situated. 

On the other hand, the theory of semiotics views the relationship between 

language, thought and reality from a psychological perspective. It examines how reality 

is reflected and interpreted in a human mind and how the interpretation of the reality is 

influenced by experience and prior knowledge. Semiotics is defined as the study of 

“signs.” “Sign…can be taken as something standing for something else” (Eco, 1976, p. 

16). Saussure (1966) indicated that linguistic sign unites two elements: concept 

(signifier) and sound/image (signified).A signifier refers to the concept the sign indicates; 

a signified refers to the image or sound reflected in a human mind when he/she reads 
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the sign. He stated that the creation and interpretation of the new signified and signifier 

come from the individual’s interpretation of previous signs, which is influenced by 

his/her past experiences and cultural environment. 

 At the same time, Peirce’s triadic model (1931–58, 2.228) consists of a 

representamen (the form of the sign), an interpretant (created in the mind of a person), 

and an object (the sign refers to). Further advanced by Eco (1990), this model was 

developed into the theory of “unlimited semiosis,” which states that triadic model could 

lead to a series of successive interpretants. Since every sign has an interpretant, which 

in turn is the representamen of another sign, semiosis is successive and unlimited. 

Therefore, in the process of making signs, culture elements have been programmed 

into the codes. At the same time, the process of decoding signs is also socially and 

culturally conditioned. It is inevitable that cultural conventions have penetrated and 

become interwoven into the production and interpretation of the codes. As we study the 

patterns and relationships underneath these codes, specific cultural patterns surface. 

Furthermore, the understanding of high amount of abstract concepts in language 

depends greatly on the classification and categorization of the related concepts, and 

this mental process is determined once again by the social conventions and cultural 

heritage (Chandler, 2002).  

Furthermore, the Sapir-Whorf hypothesis looks at the relations of reality and 

language from a linguistic perspective. This hypothesis contains two associated 

propositions: one is that the world is experienced and viewed distinctly within different 

language communities (linguistic relativity); and the other is that language determines 

these differences (linguistic determinism) (Cole & Scriber, 1974).  
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 The central idea articulated in the Sapir-Whorf hypothesis is that language 

determines thoughts, which can be traced back to Humboldtian ethno linguistics in the 

mid-nineteenth century. Humboldt expressed his theory of interrelationship between 

language and mind by saying: “Language is by no means a mere means of 

communication, but the mirror of the mind and of the world view of the speaker” (as 

cited in Koerner, 1992, p. 179). Boas (1995) echoed Humboldt’s thoughts. He believed 

that language patterns are unconsciously used, so that they lead to unconscious 

presentation of underlying cultural patterns unnoticed by researchers. Sapir (1963) 

advanced Boas’ theory by defining language as a guide conditioning our thoughts. He 

claimed, “Language is a guide to ‘social reality.’ … It powerfully conditions all our 

thinking about social problems and processes” (p. 162). Whorf furthered his 

predecessor’s theory by saying it is through language that culture influences an 

individual’s view of the world. Whorf (1988) stated 

The background linguistic system (in other words, the grammar) of each 
language is not merely a reproducing instrument for voicing ideas but rather is 
itself a shaper of ideas, the program and guide for the individual’s mental activity, 
for his analysis of impressions, for his synthesis of his mental stock in trade. (p. 
212) 
 
In conclusion, Ludwig Wittgenstein’s earlier picture theory of meaning, together 

with his later language game theory, has provided us with a solid theoretical 

underpinning for the examination of cultural elements represented in language on Web 

content and interface design. The theory of semiotics has also provided us with a 

profound philosophical and psychological foundation for decoding and analyzing cultural 

and social elements in language representation. The Sapir-Whorf hypothesis is based 

on the premises that language is part of culture. Therefore, the study of language leads 
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to the unraveling of the cultural elements situated in language, including Web interface 

design on the Webpage. Its attraction lies both in the study of cultural differences and 

cultural relativity, as well as in the relation of culture to linguistic structure and language 

translatability. As the Internet has become a new means of language representation, the 

impact of this hypothesis extends beyond to the study of cultural representation on Web 

content and interface design. 

 

Language and Representation 
 
 

Language is regarded as the primary means by which each generation receives 

its cultural heritage, whether in oral or written form. As language bears both its structural 

and semantic aspects, it is certain that we study not only the phonology and syntax of 

the language, but also its “self-contained systems of meanings” (Hoijer, 1974, p. 123). 

Since language is the foundation of social and cultural experiences, it is regarded as the 

mirror of the reality, reflecting the culture, power structure, and shared values of a 

society. With the analysis of language patterns, certain culture essences will be 

revealed. Therefore, language is a valuable source of cultural and social analysis. 

Drucker (1995), while relating the development of the alphabet as the result of 

social transformation and cultural exchange, regarded the alphabet as "a symbolic 

matrix whose letters are assumed to encode in their visual shape the history of their 

origins, of some fundamental cosmological or philosophical truth, or some mystic or 

ritual power" (p. 12). She saw letters as visual symbols as they "might provide insight 

into the history of human thought and ideas as well as into the foreign language of other 

cultures" (p. 25).  
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 Representation means “a symbol or image, or the process of presenting to the 

eye or the mind” (Williams, 1983, p. 269). It is through language, in the form of sounds, 

words, images, or objects that a representational system is built to convey our thoughts, 

ideas, and feelings. As Hall (2003) once stated, “Representation is the production of the 

meaning of the concepts in our minds through language. It is the link between concepts 

and language which enables us to refer to either the ‘real’ world of objects, people or 

events, or indeed to imaginary worlds of fictional objects, people and events” (p. 17).  

O'Connor (1996) expanded on the definition of representation as "the set of 

means by which one thing stands for another. … Representation is a complex Web of 

attributes of disparate objects and concepts, idiosyncratic and socially constructed 

codes and agreements, and neurological abilities" (p. 11). Here he includes social 

codes and conventions into the concept of representation. Marr (1982) also described 

representation as "a formal system for making explicit certain entities or types of 

information, together with a specification of how the system does this" (p. 20).  

Language and representation, as Blair (1990) stated, is the central problem in 

information retrieval. He saw the theory of document representation as a theory of 

language and meaning. To establish a foundation for the theory of document 

representation, he examined some of the major theories in linguistics, such as semiotics, 

mentalistic theories of meaning, Zopf's tools-as-jobs theory, and Wittgenstein's 

language games theory. He concluded, "Any logical structure for the arrangement of 

documents is based implicitly on the language, activities and social institutions in which 

those documents are used" (p. 211).  
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Moreover, images, a special form of representation, can also bring in a variety of 

visual dimensions depending on the depth, orientation, and arrangement of objects 

represented in the pictures. Although images are the reproduction of reality, they are not 

simply copies of the reality, but rather the creation of the photographer’s view of seeing 

the world. Thus, images can be a photographer’s way of expressing his/her own 

perspectives, which carry his/her cultural and social morals. Berger (1977) powerfully 

expressed this idea in the following passage: 

Every image embodies a way of seeing. Even a photograph. For photographs 
are not, as is often assumed, a mechanical record….The photographer’s way of 
seeing is reflected in his choice of subject. (p. 9-10) 

 

Cultural Dimensions and Cross-cultural Theories 
 

 
The earliest and widely recognized definition of culture comes from Edward 

Burnett Tylor. Tylor (1970) viewed culture in a broader sense from the field of 

anthropology, “Culture, or civilization, taken in its wide ethnographic sense, is that 

complex whole which includes knowledge, belief, art, morals, law, custom, and any 

other capabilities and habits acquired by man as a member of society" (p. 1). Since this 

study involves the examination of the cultural dimensions identified by Geert Hofstede, 

Hofstede's definition of culture relates more to this research. Hofstede (2001) defined 

culture as “the collective programming of the mind that distinguishes the members of 

one group or category of people from another” (p. 9). In recent years, an increasing 

number of studies in information systems have focused on the role of culture on 

information architecture worldwide. Cultural models have been developed and tested by 

several researchers. Stewart and Bennett (1991) established their cultural model in two 
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basic aspects: objective culture and subjective culture. Numerous cultural analysts have 

used the iceberg model (Hoft, 1995) to view culture dimensions, which states that 

explicit artifacts only consist of 10% of the iceberg above the water while the rest of 

implicit cultural features submerge under the surface, not easily identified. Hall and Hall 

(1989) uncovered seven dimensions of cross-cultural communication patterns, which 

include speed of messages, high context versus low context, space, time, information 

flow, interfacing, and action chains. Trompenaars and Hampden-Turner (1998) 

established the onion model consisting of three layers: an explicit layer with artifacts 

and products, a middle layer reflecting norms and values, and a core of basic 

assumptions about human existence.    

In spite of the existence of a wide range of cultural models, Hofstede’s cultural 

dimension theory has become the most quoted in cross-cultural and Web usability 

studies. Between 1967 and 1973, Hofstede conducted two large surveys with the 

employees in the subsidiaries of multinational IBM Corporation in 20 languages, 38 

occupations, and 72 countries. Altogether there were more than 116,000 questionnaires 

collected with over 100 questions in each (Hofstede, 2001). A correlation and factor 

analysis of the answers to the survey gathered from all these countries revealed several 

cultural fusions. These are the common variables, which can be used to measure 

cultural differences: 

• Power distance measures how subordinates respond to power and authority. 

It measures the degree of equality or inequality between people in a society.  
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• Collectivism versus individualism measures the relationship among 

individuals. In individualistic culture, individuals value more on individualism; 

while in collectivist culture, individuals view more on community and society; 

• Masculinity versus femininity measures the degree to which a culture views 

its gender roles. Masculine cultures tend to view males as tough conquerors 

and females as tender homemakers, while Feminine cultures tend to reduce 

these gender differences; 

• Uncertainty avoidance measures the extent people feel about uncertain 

situations (Hofstede, 2001). 

 
In 1980, Geert Hofstede and Michael Harris Bond from Chinese University of 

Hong Kong conducted a new questionnaire survey, the Chinese Value Survey. With 100 

students (50 men and 50 women) selected from each of the 23 countries, the Chinese 

Value Survey yielded the fifth cultural dimension, long-term versus short-term 

orientation (Hofstede & Hofstede, 2005). Since then, these five cultural dimensions 

have been used as a basic framework to assess various cultural aspects in culture 

studies. 

 

Recent Development on the Study of Cultural Dimensions 
 
 

 Cultural dimensions, particularly Geert Hofstede’s (2001) five cultural dimensions 

and Edward T. Hall’s (Hall & Hall, 1989) dimension of high-context versus low-context 

communication have been applied to a variety of research fields, especially cross-

cultural marketing and advertising research. De Mooij’s study (2000) used Hofstede’s 
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five cultural dimensions as independent variables against data on the change of product 

consumption of mineral water, cars, and Internet usage in 15 European countries over 

20 years. He concluded that national cultures influence consumer behavior and that the 

future of international marketing is quite predictable. As Internet and communication 

technology have permeated into all aspects of society, several studies focused on 

culture’s impact on Internet and technology diffusion.  

La Ferle, Edwards and Mizuno (2002) examined the impact of Hofstede’s four 

dimensions on Internet diffusion in Japan and the United States. They found that 

cultural factors affect the degree of Internet growth. After an examination of the 

relationship between Hofstede’s dimensions and Internet adoption rate of 62 countries, 

Nath and Murthy (2004) confirmed that the degree of Uncertainty Avoidance and 

Masculinity in a country correlates to its rate of Internet adoption. Furthermore, Zakour 

(2004), based on Hofstede’s cultural dimensions, established a technology acceptance 

model in his research. In the most recent study, Singh (2006) employed four of 

Hofstede’s dimensions to national cultures to examine the adoption patterns of new 

products and the innovative and imitative behavior of consumers. 

 In addition, Hofstede’s cultural dimension model has been used to examine 

information process (Steinwachs, 1999), the concept of the Internet as a virtual cultural 

region (Johnston & Johal, 1999), Internet portal (Zahir, Dobing & Hunter, 2002), and e-

gaming (Kale, 2006). A similar study, conducted by Burgmann, Kitchen and Williams 

(2006), employed two of Hofstede’s cultural dimensions power distance and uncertainty 

avoidance to explore the impact of culture on graphical user interface (GUI) design with 
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comparative content analysis. The results showed that culture, at least partially, 

influenced graphical user interface design. 

 Not only have Hofstede’s and Hall’s cultural variables been integrated into the 

contributions of cross-cultural marketing and advertising research to a large degree, 

these variables have also established foundations in empirical research on Web-based 

communication and user-interface design as well. Marcus’s study went further and 

made great contributions to cross-cultural study by applying Hofstede’s cultural 

dimension theory to a new area: Web interface design (Marcus, 2005; Marcus & Gould, 

2000). Marcus (2005) asserted that user-interface has five components:  

• Metaphors:  concepts, which substitute computer-related elements with words, 

images, and sounds in computer interface design for providing better 

understanding of the computer functions. Some examples are windows, recycle 

bin, trashcan, and so on. 

• Mental models:  structures of data, functions, tasks, and roles. Content, function, 

media, and tools are examples. 

• Navigation: the movement through content and tools to enable a smooth path 

from one function to another. Menus, windows, dialogue boxes are among the 

few. 

• Interaction: the communication between human and the computer, including 

input/output techniques, displays, feedbacks, the choice of display or output 

hardware, and so forth. 

• Appearance:  visual and audio attributes, including colors, fonts, formats, and 

animations. 

 23



 

 
He mapped the five cultural dimensions to each of these user interface 

components and defined cultural indicators for these user interface components (see 

Table 1).  

Table 1 
 
Mapping Power Distance to User Interface Components 

Component Power distance indicators 

Metaphors High: government or corporate buildings, monuments; 

Low: informal or popular buildings and objects that show equality 

Mental models High: highly organized structures, e.g., large organizational charts 

Low: simple, informally organized structures 

Navigation High: restricted access with passwords 

Low: open access, multiple options 

Interaction High: severe error messages, entry forbidden 

Low:  supportive error messages 

Appearance High: images of leaders, logos, symbols 

Low: images of people, groups; daily activities; popular music 

 
Note. Adapted and copyright©2005 from “User Interface Design and Culture” by A. Marcus in Usability 

and Internationalization of Information Technology, ed. by N. Aykin, p. 43-65. Reproduced by 

permission of Taylor and Francis Group, LLC, a division of Informa plc. 

 

 Marcus and Gould (2000) also pointed out that power distance may influence 

several aspects of user-interface design, such as symmetric layout, information highly 

structured, hierarchies in mental model, nationalism or religion, focus on authority, 
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official stamp, restricted security, and restrictions to access, and restricted managerial 

sections. 

At the same time, Gold, Zakaria and Yusof (2000) examined three Malaysian and 

three US Websites in their study and concluded that prominent organizational charts, 

special title on members of the organization, and information arranged according to the 

management hierarchy are strong power distance indicators. 

Subsequently, Zahedi, Pelt and Song (2001) developed a conceptual framework 

for exploring user satisfaction and effective Web designs based on cultural dimensions 

and individual factors. Robbins and Stylianou (2003) did an experimental investigation 

of Web content and design with Hofstede’s country cluster classifications based on 

cultural commonalities. The results showed that Website content is significantly different 

across national cultures, but only found minor differences concerning Website design. 

Zhao, Massey, Murphy and Fang (2003) also completed a Website design and content 

analysis of 50 mainland China and 50 American Websites by employing Hofstede’s 

dimension individualism versus collectivism and Edward Hall’s dimension high-context 

versus low-context communication as measurements. The study showed that Website 

design and content are “neither fully neutral nor fully specific” (p. 75). Cyr and Trevor-

Smith (2004) analyzed cultural characteristics on German, Japanese and United States 

Websites based on the first four of Hofstede’s cultural dimensions. It concluded that the 

differences in Web design among these countries are due to cultural differences.  

Recently, the most influential application of Hofstede’s cultural dimension theory 

to Web content is those of Nitish Singh’s (Singh, Kumar & Baack, 2005; Singh, Zhao & 

Hu, 2003, 2005). In the past three years, Singh, with his colleagues, used content 
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analysis method to investigate cultural content as well as cultural adaptation on Website 

design. If Hofstede has established cultural dimensions through empirical research, and 

Marcus and Gould (2000) has furthered Hofstede’s theory into Website interface design 

by pinpointing cultural indicators for each dimension, it is Nitish Singh and his 

colleagues who have conducted considerable amount of scientific research to 

systematically validate Marcus and Gould’s framework in measuring cultural adaptation 

on the Website. Singh, Zhao and Hu (2003) compared 40 U.S-based company 

Websites with their Chinese Websites to investigate their cultural adaptation. They 

(2005) also conducted a cross-national comparison of China, India, Japan, and US. 

Later, Singh advanced his research into the investigation of e-commerce firms (Singh, 

Kumar & Baack, 2005). All of the three studies revealed that Web content and design 

reflect local cultural values. In addition, in order to measure cultural dimensions on Web 

interface design, Singh and his colleague not only presented a list of cultural indicators 

for each of the cultural dimensions, but also used them in their empirical research. In 

their study, six indicators were singled out as representation for power distance. 

Although three out of the six indicators overlapped with those in the previous study, 

quality information and awards, vision statement, and pride of ownership appeal 

emerged as new indicators for representing power distance on Web interface design. 

 However, the study of cultural value representation on Web interface design 

remains to be an unfamiliar field. Very few studies have extended cultural dimensions to 

the study of cultural content on the Web design and there are not enough studies 

exploring social issues through Web interface content and design analysis. This study 

builds on Hofstede’s cultural dimensions (2001, 2005), and the frameworks of Gould et 
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al. (2000), Marcus (2005), Marcus and Gould (2000), and Singh, Zhao and Hu (2003, 

2005) by focusing on the examination of national political freedom represented on Web 

interface design. 

  

Summary 
 
 This chapter has presented the theoretical background to support current 

research. It has also introduced recent related research as well. The following chapters 

will detail the research design for this principal research and specify the result of the 

research. 
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CHAPTER 3 
 

RESEARCH METHOD 

 

Introduction 
 
 
  The purpose of this research is to explore if national political freedom is in fact 

represented on Web interface design by using power distance, one of the culture 

dimensions identified by Geert Hofstede, as a measurement. It is also the intention of 

this study to determine if there are any differences in representing national political 

freedom on government-based Websites and business-oriented Websites.  

 By employing power distance as a measurement for national political freedom, 

this study focuses on following questions: 

1. To what extent is a country’s national political freedom represented on Web 

interface design? 

2. Does any statistical difference exist between a country’s government-based 

Websites and its business-oriented Websites in representing national political 

freedom? 

 First, a pilot study was performed to validate 10 power distance indicators 

obtained from previous literature. It analyzed 144 college/university Websites randomly 

selected from 36 countries. The result showed that 6 out of 10 proposed indictors are 

valid power distance indicators. The seventh indicator, symmetric layout, correlates with 
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a country’s political freedom level, even though statistical significance was not found 

among the means of three freedom groups. 

 Subsequently, these seven power distance indicators were applied as dependent 

variables in the principal research, which examined and analyzed 144 government-

based Websites and 144 business-oriented Websites selected from 36 countries with 

both qualitative and quantitative research methods. Content analysis was used for data 

collection purpose. Three countries were randomly selected from each of the 13 

freedom levels from Freedom in the World: Independent Countries 2007 (Appendix A). 

Four government-based Websites and four business-oriented Websites were chosen for 

each country based on Google and Yahoo! country search as well as Forbes Global 

2000 public companies and Asian Fab 50 companies. The government-based Websites 

included Websites selected from both federal and state levels. Each Website was coded 

on a 4-point likert-type scale (with 0 = not present and 4 = present to the greatest extent) 

for each of the seven power distance indicators.  

 At the analysis stage, the research used two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) 

for analyzing national political freedom represented on the Websites and for exploring 

the differences between government-based sites and business-oriented sites in 

representing national political freedom.  

 

Dependent Variable 
 
 
 The dependent variable for this principal research is the Web representation of 

power distance. It is the sum of the scores derived from content analysis on each 
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Website for seven power distance indicators. These indicators have been verified in the 

pilot study and they are: 

1. Symmetric layout 

2. Special title conferred on members of the organization 

3. Monumental building 

4. Authority figure 

5. Symbol of nationalism or religion 

6. Link to information about the leaders of the organization 

7. Information arranged according to the management hierarchy 

 

Independent Variables 
 

 Two independent variables are involved in this principal research: Website types 

(government-based and business-oriented) and freedom levels (free-country group, 

partly-free-country group, and not-free-country group).  

  The variable, Website type, is determined according to the origination and 

functionality of the Website. Government-based Websites include any Websites 

designed officially for offices and institutions, which belong to and work for the 

government of a country. However, personal Websites for government officials, such as 

the official Website of a president, are not included in this category, since the design of 

a personal Website is different from that of an institutional Website. Business-oriented 

Websites consist of any company Websites. The company can be owned by an 

individual or by a board of trustees. However, the company’s Website has to be a local 
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company Website, not a Website developed for an international audience. For instance, 

if Sony Corporation’s Website is included in business-oriented Website category, only 

the Website designed for the Japanese at http://www.sony.co.jp/ can be considered for 

this research, since only this Website represents best the culture of Japan. Other Sony 

Websites, SONY USA or SONY Canada, may be designed to customize other cultures. 

 The variable, freedom level, is determined by a conceptual variable: Freedom. 

The conceptual variable Freedom is measured in Appendix A provided by Freedom 

House. 

 Freedom House is an independent non-profit and non-partisan institution, which 

advocates for the expansion of democracy and freedom around the world. Founded in 

1941 by Eleanor Roosevelt, Wendell Willkie, and other Americans, Freedom House has 

become a leading activist in promoting democratic values through its international 

programs and publications. Its standard annual publications include Freedom in the 

World, Freedom of the Press, Nations in Transit, and Countries at Crossroads 

(Freedom House, 2006a). 

 Conducted by analysts and senior-level academic advisors, Freedom in the 

World: Independent Countries 2007 has gone through comprehensive process of 

analysis and evaluation, covering the period from December 1, 2005 to December 31, 

2006 for 193 countries and territories. In the rating process, raw scores for each country 

are generated from a checklist of questions on political rights (10 questions) and civil 

liberties (15 questions). The checklist for political rights focuses on electoral processes, 

political pluralism and participation, and the functioning of government, while the 

checklist for civil liberties concentrates on freedom of expression and belief, 
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associational and organizational rights, rule of law, and personal autonomy and 

individual rights. Each of these questions is assigned a raw point from 0 to 4, where 0 

represents the least and 4 the greatest degree of rights or liberties. The total of raw 

points adds up to political rights raw points and civil liberties raw points respectively. 

Afterwards, a seven-point scale freedom rating is formed from these raw scores, with 1 

indicating the most free and 7 the least free. Each country receives its freedom rating by 

averaging its political rights raw points and its civil liberties raw points. The survey then 

classifies each country by the status of “Free,” “Partly Free,” or “Not Free” according to 

its combined average rating of political rights and civil liberties. Free-country group 

includes countries with combined average ratings of 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, and 2.5; partly-free-

country group consists of countries with combined average ratings of 3.0, 3.5, 4.0, 4.5, 

and 5.0; and not-free-country group comprises countries with combined average ratings 

of 5.5, 6.0, 6.5 and 7.0 (Freedom House, 2006b). As indicated in Appendix A, countries 

with the same combined average ratings are grouped together alphabetically under 

each level. 

 Since its publication in 1972, this freedom rating has well been established as 

one of the two most widely used measures for political freedom and democracy across 

countries. It remains as the standard in cross-nation democracy evaluations (Huber & 

Solt, 2004; McClintock & Lebovic, 2006). Although it has received some criticism, the 

Freedom in the World Survey dataset has been widely used in comparative political 

studies to analyze correlations among political freedom, economic freedom, and 

economic growth (Gwartney, Lawson & Holcombe, 1999). It has also been used in 

examining political freedom and civil conflict (MacCulloch & Pezzini, 2002), social trust, 
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political parties and democracy in Latin America (McClintock & Lebovic, 2006), and the 

modernization and democracy in Latin America (Mainwaring & Perez-Linan, 2003). 

Overall, the Freedom House index of political freedom is one of the two lists, which 

place the level of democracy of a country on an ordinal scale (Foweraker & Krznaric, 

2002). 

Sample Size 
 
 
 Several factors determine the sample size for a research. Purpose of study, 

population size, sampling error and confidence level all affect the choosing of a sample 

size. In this study, a simplified formula is used to calculate sample size (Yamane, 1973, 

p. 1088; Israel, 1992), where n is the sample size, N the population size and e the level 

of precision: 

   ( )eN
Nn 21+

= .          (1) 

We get: 

( ) 130
4825.01

193
05.1931

193
2 ≈

+
=

+
=n (Samples). 

Here, N equals 193 countries listed in the Freedom in the World: Independent Countries 

2007 with 95% of confidence level and 5% precision. As the second research question 

is to determine if any statistical difference exists between a country’s government-based 

Websites and its business-oriented Websites in representing national political freedom, 

the sample size of 130 is then doubled to 260. 
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 Since there are 13 freedom levels on the list and an equal proportion of freedom 

levels should be presented in the research, this research selected three countries from 

each of the 13 levels and conducted a content analysis of four government-based and 

four business-oriented Websites from each country. However, free-country group 

consists of four freedom levels (Level 1, Level 1.5, Level 2, and Level 2.5),   partly-free-

country group contains five freedom levels (Level 3, Level 3.5, Level 4, Level 4.5, and 

Level 5), and not-free-country group comprises four freedom levels (Level 5.5, Level 6, 

Level 6.5, and Level 7). This brings the sample size for this research up to 312, with 96 

Websites in free-country group, 120 Websites in partly-free-country group, and 96 

Websites in not-free-country group. In order to balance the sample size for the three 

freedom groups, which is one of the criteria to run an ANOVA test for interval variables, 

the sample size for partly-free-country group was reduced to 96 at the analysis stage by 

eliminating 24 Websites in Level 4 (the middle level). Thus, the sample size for this 

principal research is 

 
(4 government Websites + 4 business Websites) x 3 countries x 12 levels  
= 288 Websites 
 
 
The ANOVA test was repeated subsequently by randomly eliminating Websites in 

partly-free-country group with the intent to justify the first elimination method. 

 

Country Selection 
 
 
 This research randomly selected three countries from each of the 13 freedom 

levels (from Level 1.0 to Level 7.0) by using Research Randomizer, an online pseudo-
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random number generator at http://www.randomizer.org/form.htm. Since there are 

different numbers of countries in each level, the Randomizer generated numbers 

individually for each level and exported the results into Excel program (Appendix B). As 

countries are listed alphabetically within each freedom level and the country selection is 

based on the random number generator, each country has an equal opportunity to be 

selected for this research. As a result, 12 countries selected under category free (Level 

1.0 to Level 2.5) formed free-country group. Partly-free-country group included 15 

countries selected from Level 3.0 to Level 5.0. The last 12 countries drawn from Level 

5.5 to Level 7.0 became not-free-country group. However, in the process of data 

analysis, three countries (Level 4.0) in partly-free-country group were eliminated in 

order to balance the sample size for the three freedom groups. 

 
 

Website Selection 
 
 
 This study selected four government-based Websites and four business-oriented 

Websites from each country. The four government-based Websites were selected 

based on Yahoo! and Google search. First, the Yahoo! 

(http://dir.yahoo.com/Regional/Countries/) and Google 

(http://directory.google.com/Top/Regional/) country directories were consulted (Figure 2 

and Figure 3). The search went further into specific countries and then the government 

directory. One or two official Websites from national agencies were included for each 

country depending on their availability. In addition, the list contained official Websites 

from city/state agencies and embassies. Since some of the countries do not have  
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Figure 2.   Yahoo! country directory. Reproduced with permission of Yahoo! Inc. ® 2008 

by Yahoo! Inc. YAHOO! and the YAHOO! logo are trademarks of Yahoo! Inc. 

 

 

Figure 3.   Google country directory. 

 36



 

Websites in these specific categories, the selection expanded to include other 

government agency Websites. 

 The four business-oriented Websites consist of the top four largest local-based 

business companies for each country listed. These Websites were selected first from 

The Global 2000 company list (Forbes.com Inc., 2007a) and The Asian Fab 50 

company list (Forbes.com Inc., 2007b). If there were not enough companies listed on 

these two lists for a country, Google and Yahoo! country > business searches were 

conducted at http://directory.google.com/Top/Regional/ and 

http://dir.yahoo.com/Regional/Countries/.  This selection method is used due to the 

belief that those companies listed on Global 2000 and Asian Fab 50 have enough 

resources in information technology to develop and maintain their Websites while 

representing their local cultures. These two lists also represent a mix of industry sectors. 

If multiple companies are listed for a country, the top four companies from various 

industry sectors were considered to seek a better balance in industry variations. 

Appendix C is the Website list for the principal research. The list was then re-arranged 

alphabetically by the names of the Websites before it was distributed to the coders, 

keeping the knowledge of the Website's freedom level undisclosed. 

 

Content Analysis 
 
 

This research used a content analysis method to collect data from Websites. 

Content analysis is a research method, which "makes replicable and valid inferences 

from data to their context" (Krippendorff, 1980, p. 21). It systematically examines the 

symbolic meaning within a large context and makes inferences from the data collected. 
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It has been used in many disciplines to examine international differences in 

communication, to reflect cultural patterns of societies, and to describe trends in 

communication patterns (Weber, 1990). As the Webpage has become one of the most 

influential media, which includes all the textual, visual, and audible forms of 

communication, content analysis has extended its application to this new field. Since 

content analysis uses both qualitative and quantitative analytical methods on text, its 

unobtrusive data collection process has increased its reliability. While the purpose of 

this study is to examine the components of the Website as to its metaphors, mental 

models, navigation, interaction, and appearance, content analysis is the appropriate 

research technique to code these data for statistical analysis.  

In this study, the analysis was carried out mainly on the homepage with 

extensions to the second and third level Web pages through. With some companies 

setting up their introductory pages with flash software, the next page was considered as 

the homepage. The seven power distance indicators were evaluated on each Website 

on a 0 (not present) to 4 (present to the most extent) scale. Since some of the Websites 

might be written in languages other than English, native speakers were consulted to 

translate those Websites into English if possible. If a Website was presented in both 

English and its country's native language, the coding was mainly based on the Website 

in its native language, since culture elements are best presented in their native 

languages. In some cases, Websites in English were selected for coding, only under the 

condition that the English Website had the same layout as its native language Website, 

and the English Website was merely the translation of its native language Website, 

rather than a Website with different construction designed for an international audience. 
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Inter-coder Reliability 
 
 
 Two college graduates independently performed data coding analysis from the 

context of the Website selected. The scores received from these two coders were used 

as the primary data for this research. 

 To ensure that the two coders achieve a certain degree of agreement, an inter-

coder reliability test was conducted. An inter-coder reliability test measures the extent of 

agreement reached by two or more coders when they code texts in content analysis. It 

also accesses the consistency of the coding process performed by coders and indicates 

the reliability of the data collection process in content analysis. 

In a pre-coding training, the two coders learned about the nature of the study and 

received training in the coding themes for an hour. At the same time, they received a 

Coding Sheet for Reliability Test and Pilot Study (Appendix D), as well as an Instruction 

Sheet for Coding Websites (Appendix E) for coding consistency. Afterward, for the inter-

coder reliability test, the coders were engaged independently in coding a sample of 26 

college/university Websites selected from 13 countries. These 13 countries were drawn 

randomly by Research Randomizer at http://www.randomizer.org/form.htm from 

Freedom in the World: Independent Countries 2007 list (Appendix A). One country was 

selected from each level (Appendix F). The 13 countries used in this inter-coder 

reliability test are independent from those used later for the pilot study or for the 

principal research. This means that the countries in this inter-coder reliability test may or 

may not overlap with the countries in the pilot study or in the principal research, 

depending on the random numbers drawn by the Research Randomizer. If, by any 
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chance, a country in this inter-coder reliability test overlaps with one in the pilot study or 

in the principal research, the Websites selected for this inter-coder reliability test would 

not be the same Websites used in the pilot study. The Websites for this reliability test 

were selected through Yahoo! and Google country directories at 

http://dir.yahoo.com/Regional/Countries/ and http://directory.google.com/Top/Regional/. 

Yahoo! or Google searches were conducted subsequently by typing "country name 

AND college" when there were not enough results found from Yahoo! and Google 

country directory search. Appendix G is the compiled Website list for this inter-coder 

reliability test arranged by freedom levels and their coordinate countries. However, this 

list was re-arranged alphabetically by the names of the universities/colleges when given 

to the coders. 

The sample size for this inter-coder reliability test was determined according to 

the convention that the appropriate size for reliability sample should not be less than 50 

units or 10% of the full sample (Lombard, Snyder-Duch & Bracken, 2005). Since the full 

sample is 193 countries, the sample size for this inter-coder reliability test should be 20 

units. In order to achieve stratified samplings, one country was randomly drawn from 

each freedom level. Subsequently, two college/university Websites were randomly 

selected for each country from the Yahoo! or Google country search. This generated 26 

sample units, which satisfies the sample size requirement of 10% of 193 countries. 

 Krippendorff’s alpha coefficient method was used to measure the inter-coder 

reliability for the ten power distance indicators. Krippendorff's alpha is a reliability 

coefficient used to measure the agreement between two or more coders. It is very 

flexible and can be used with any number of observers, scale values, and level of 
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measurement. Missing data is tolerated and there is no requirement on data size 

(Krippendorff, 2007). A minimal level of .80 agreement is recommended by Krippendorff 

(1980, p. 147) and is adopted as a measurement for this study. It is designed that if the 

agreement of this reliability test falls below the accepted .80, the two coders will receive 

further trainings. In addition, the coding instrument and procedures may be refined 

accordingly. 

 The coding process for this reliability test was conducted from September 19, 

2007 to October 10, 2007. There were 260 pairs of coded data collected from 26 

Websites by using the Coding Sheet for Reliability Test and Pilot Study (Appendix D). 

There was no missing data found. After the data were collected, a SPSS macro for 

computing Krippendorff's alpha was downloaded from http://www.comm.ohio-

state.edu/ahayes/SPSS%20programs/kalpha.htm and run in SPSS script editor on 

October 18, 2007. As a result, Krippendorf's alpha was calculated and the inter-coder 

reliability for this test is measured at .87 for the 260 pairs, which indicates a relative high 

level of inter-coder reliability. 

 

Pilot Study 

 
Earlier research suggests that several power distance indicators might be used 

to measure a country's political freedom represented on Web interface design. However, 

these indicators are not statistically validated. This pilot study aims to validate these ten 

power distance indicators with the intent of finding out if these indicators measure a 

country's political freedom on Web content and interface design, so that the validated 

indicators may serve as dependent variables in the subsequent principal research for 
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Website interface analysis. This pilot study also serves as an experiment of data 

collection and analysis methods, and a training of the two coders for the principal 

research. Two coders performed a content analysis on 156 college/university Websites 

selected from 39 countries in this pilot study. The rationale of sampling Websites from 

college and university institutions is that college/university institutions stand on a 

relatively neutral ground in providing information to their general audience, compared 

with other types of Websites, such as business-oriented Websites and government-

based Websites. College/university Websites target the same constituencies, both 

internationally and nationally, so both globalization and localization have to be weighted 

in consideration of their Web interface design. A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) 

was applied to analyze each of the proposed ten indicators in order to detect statistical 

significance among means of the three freedom groups (free-country group, partly-free-

country group, and not-free-country group). Afterward, post hoc multiple comparisons 

were used to locate the differences and to analyze the trend over the freedom levels in 

order to determine the necessary order. A Pearson correlation coefficient was further 

employed to find out the linear relationships between the freedom level and the 

representation of the indicators on the Webpage. The results indicated that seven out of 

ten proposed indicators could be used to measure a country's national political freedom 

on Web interface design.  

 

Dependent Variables and Independent Variable 

 

 Ten power distance variables were selected as dependent variables from the 

studies of Gould, Zakaria and Yusof (2000), Marcus (2005), Marcus and Gould (2000), 
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Singh, Kumar and Baack (2005), and Singh, Zhao and Hu (2003). These ten variables 

are: 

1. Symmetric layout 

2. Special title conferred on members of the organization 

3. Monumental building 

4. Official stamp/logo 

5. Authority figure 

6. Symbol of nationalism or religion 

7. Link to information about the leaders of the organization 

8. Security barrier, not accessible 

9. Manager section forbidden for access 

10. Information arranged according to the management hierarchy 

 The independent variable used in this pilot study is the freedom level. There are 

three groups in this independent variable. The purpose of this data analysis is to verify if 

there is any statistical significance among the three freedom groups (free-country group, 

partly-free-country group, and not-free-country group) for these ten individual power 

distance variables. 

 
Sample Size 
 
 
 This pilot study collected data from 156 college/university Websites selected from 

39 countries from the list of Freedom in the World: Independent Countries 2007. A 95% 

confidence level was selected with +5% precision. This sample size was determined 
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according to the simplified formula illustrated in Equation 1. The result is 130 samples 

based on the population of 193 countries listed in Freedom in the World: Independent 

Countries 2007.  

 In order to achieve stratified samplings, this study selected three countries from 

each of the 13 levels and conducted a content analysis of four college/university 

Websites from each country. This brings the sample size up to 156. To balance the 

sample size for the three freedom groups, the sample size for partly-free-country group 

was reduced to 48 at the analysis stage by eliminating 12 Websites in Level 4. Thus, 

the sample size for this pilot study became 144. The ANOVA test was repeated 

subsequently by randomly eliminating 12 Websites in partly-free-country group with the 

intent to validate the first elimination method. The result showed that the random 

deletion method reached the same conclusion as the method of removing Level 4, 

although some of the results differed slightly. 

 

Country Selection 
 

 Three countries were randomly selected from each of the 13 freedom levels by 

using the Research Randomizer at http://www.randomizer.org/form.htm. As a result, 12 

countries selected from Level 1.0 to Level 2.5 formed free-country group. Partly-free-

country group included 15 countries (Level 3.0 to Level 5.0). The last 12 countries 

drawn from Level 5.5 to Level 7.0 became not-free-country group (Appendix H). 

However, in the process of data analysis, three countries (Level 4.0) were eliminated in 

partly-free-country group in order to balance the sample size for the three freedom 

groups. 
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Website Selection 
 
 
 Four college/university Websites were selected from each country based on 

Yahoo! http://dir.yahoo.com/Regional/Countries/ and Google 

http://directory.google.com/Top/Regional/ country directory. If there were more than four 

colleges/universities provided for a country, the top four colleges/universities listed 

would be chosen for this pilot study. Http://www.canadian-universities.net was also 

consulted. Canadian-universities.net provides extensive information on colleges and 

universities in Canada, as well as presents links to colleges and universities worldwide. 

In the event that fewer than four colleges/universities could be found online for a country 

after a comprehensive search, another country in the same freedom level would be 

selected as a replacement through Research Randomizer (see Appendix I). In the 

selection process, the nature of the institutions is not considered. The Websites 

selected for a nation may contain private institutions, public institutions or a combination. 

After the list of Websites was generated, it was re-arranged alphabetically by the names 

of the colleges before given to the two coders, so that the coders would have no prior 

knowledge of a Website's freedom level. 

 

Data Collection and Analysis Design 
 

 
First, two coders performed content analysis for the 156 Websites independently 

on the Coding Sheet for Reliability Test and Pilot Study (Appendix D) from October 19, 

2007 to November 15, 2007. Subsequently, the Statistical Package for the Social 
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Sciences (SPSS) software was used to perform the second-stage quantitative data 

analysis.  

 Significance level.  Let α = .05. N = 144 (the total number of Websites under 

study). n1 = n2 = n3 = 48 (the number of Websites in free-country group, partly-free-

country group, and not-free-country group respectively). 

 Null hypothesis. First, a null hypothesis (H0) is established that the means of 

the three freedom groups are not significantly different for each of the ten proposed 

indicators. That means H0: μ1 = μ2= μ3, where H0 = the null hypothesis, μ1 = the mean of 

free-country group, μ2 = the mean of partly-free-country group, and μ3 = the mean of 

not-free-country group. If the null hypothesis is rejected, it indicates that statistical 

significance exists among freedom groups for the proposed indicators. 

 Statistical test. As the variables involved are measured in an interval scale 

and the three freedom groups are completely independent, a one-way ANOVA was 

selected to perform data analysis for each indicator. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) aims 

to find a statistical significance among groups (more than two groups) by comparing the 

means of these groups on one or more than one independent variable(s). One-way 

ANOVA requires a total of one dependent variable and one independent variable. More 

than two groups have to be involved in that independent variable (George & Mallery, 

2008; Ho, 2006). This pilot study involves one independent variable (the freedom level) 

with three freedom groups and one dependent variable (ten power distance indicators). 

Since the purpose of this pilot study is to verify if there is any statistically significance 

among the three freedom groups for each power distance indicators, each of these ten 

dependent variables has to be analyzed with the independent variable individually. Post 
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hoc multiple comparisons were also applied to locate these differences if there are any. 

These analyses compare each possible pair combination of means on each dependent 

variable right after differences are found between three or more levels of the 

independent variable in an ANOVA test. The Tukey HSD (honestly significant difference) 

was used for these pair comparisons. 

 Trend test. To verify that these indicators demonstrate a country's national 

freedom level, it is necessary not only to detect differences between treatment means, 

but also to disclose the trend order of these treatment means. A Mean Plot graph was 

used to demonstrate the trends emerged on all combinations between independent 

variable and dependent variables. 

 Correlation. A Pearson correlation coefficient was applied with the assumption 

that the data are at an interval level and the two variables are in a linear relationship. 

The purpose of this analysis is to verify that the two variables (freedom level and 

representation of the indicators on Web pages) correlate with each other. The Pearson 

Product-moment Correlation (r) measures the strength and direction of a bivariate 

correlation between two variables. It ranges in value from -1 to +1. r = 1 (a perfect 

positive correlation) means that higher values on one variable are associated with 

higher values on another variable. It indicates a direct relationship between the two 

variables. 0 < r < 1 (a positive correlation) indicates that higher values on one variable 

are generally, but not absolutely associated with higher scores on another variable. r = 0, 

means there is no correlation between the two variables. -1 < r < 0 (a negative 

correlation) indicates that higher values on one variable are generally, but not absolutely 

associated with lower scores on another variable. r = -1 (a perfect negative correlation), 

 47



 

means higher scores on one variable are associated with lower scores on another 

variable (George & Mallery, 2008). A one-tailed test of significance is selected since it is 

known that the direction of the correlation is one-tailed negative. The level of 

significance is set at .01 (p < .01), which means there is less than a 1% chance that this 

relationship occurred by chance. There is no missing data in the sets. 

 

Results 
 
Six out of ten proposed indicators are valid indicators for measuring a nation’s political 
freedom on Web interface design. They are 

  
1. Special title conferred on members of the organization,  
2. Monumental building,  
3. Authority figure,  
4. Symbol of nationalism or religion,  
5. Link to information about the leaders of the organization, and 
6. Information arranged according to management hierarchy. 

 

 This conclusion is reached based on two factors: first, statistical differences were 

found in treatment means as a result of the ANOVA tests; and second, their treatment 

means demonstrated a significant decrease as the freedom level increased.  

 The results from the one-way ANOVA (Appendix J) indicated that the means for 

these six dependent variables are significantly different (α =.05). Therefore, the null 

hypothesis H0: μ1 = μ2= μ3 of identical treatment means is rejected for all these six 

indicators. 

 Special title appears to be a strong power distance indicator on Web interface 

design. As Appendix J indicated, the means for the three freedom groups differ 

significantly (not-free-country group, M = 0.88; partly-free-country group, M = 0.79; free-

country group, M =0.10; F = 7.587). The p-value equals to .001, which is less than p-
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critical = .05 with the confidence level at 95%. Therefore, it is concluded that the 

indicator, special title, is one of the validated indicators for measuring a country’s 

national political freedom. Post hoc multiple comparisons (Appendix K) revealed that, 

for special title, differences existed between free-country group and partly-free-country 

group (p = .005 when comparing the means of these two groups), and between free-

country group and not-free-country group (p = .002), but not between partly-free-country 

group and not-free-country group (p = .922). 

 The ANOVA test results also indicated that the indicator, monumental building, 

differs significantly on the three freedom levels (Not-free country Group, M = 3.27; 

partly-free-country group, M = 2.56; free-country group, M = 2.29; F = 4.955, p =.008. 

see Appendix J). The Post Hoc Multiple Comparisons table (Appendix K) showed that 

the mean of free-country group is significantly different from that of not-free-country 

group (p =.008) for this indicator. Nevertheless, the means between free-country group 

and partly-free-country group do not differ significantly (p =.677). Neither do the means 

between partly-free-country group and not-free-country group (p =.074).  

 For the indicator, authority figure, the ANOVA tests (Appendix J) implied that the 

means for the three freedom levels are statistically significant with p =.004 (not-free-

country group, M = 2.25; partly-free-country group, M = 1.79; free-country group, M = 

1.35; F = 5.661). Further post hoc multiple comparisons (Appendix K) showed that the 

difference exists between the means of free-country group and not-free-country group 

(p =.003), but not between the means of free-country group and partly-free-country 

group (p =.231), nor between the means of partly-free-country group and not-free-

country group (p =.201). 
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 Marcus and Gould (2000) believed that power distance might be presented on 

Website design by placing great emphasis on social and moral orders, such as symbol 

of nationalism and religion. The results of the ANOVA test (Appendix J) revealed that 

the means of the three freedom group differ significantly for this indicator (not-free-

country group, M = 1.02; partly-free-country group, M = 0.85; free-country group,  

M = 0.27; F = 4.33; p = .015). Further post hoc multiple comparisons (Appendix K) 

indicated that the difference is located between the means of free-country group and 

not-free-country group (p = .016).  

 The proposed indicator, link to information about the leaders of the organization, 

is examined according to the Webpage level on which the link is located. The results of 

the ANOVA tests (Appendix J) pointed out that significant differences exist between 

Web sites for this indicator (not-free-country group, M = 3.17; partly-free-country group, 

M = 2.90; free-country group, M = 2.19; F = 7.38; p = .001). The significant differences 

(Appendix K) are found between the means of free-country group and partly-free-

country group (p = .022), and again between the means of free-country group and not-

free-country group (p = .001). However, the means between partly-free-country group 

and free-country group are so close that they are not significant (p = .56). 

 Information arranged according to management hierarchy is proposed as another 

indicator for measuring political freedom level on a Website. The ANOVA analysis 

(Appendix J) showed that significant differences exist between the means of the three 

freedom groups (not-free-country group, M = 3.13, partly-free-country group, M = 2.52; 

free-country group, M = 2.44; F = 3.390; p = .036). By comparing each pair of means 

individually, the Tukey (HSD) post hoc analysis (Appendix K) indicated that the 
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difference only lies between the means of free-country group and not-free-country group 

(p = .048).  

 Even though the above data analysis has provided the fundamental basis for 

validating the six proposed indicators as measuring instruments for national political 

freedom on Web interface design, it is necessary to examine further the trend 

development of the three freedom levels. Appendix L is constructed based on this trend 

over the means of the three freedom groups (The data for the means of the three 

freedom groups can be found in Appendix J as a result of descriptive statistics in the 

ANOVA tests). It indicated that treatment means decreased steadily as the freedom 

level increased from not free to free for all these six proposed indicators. This result 

signified that Websites from not-free-country group contain more of the indicators than 

those from free-country group do.  

 In addition, the Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient is implemented to 

find out if a linear relationship exists between the two variables (freedom level and 

levels of presentation) for these six indicators. It is also used to determine the direction 

and strength of the relationship. The results showed that the correlation between 

freedom levels and Web representation of the six indicators is negative (-1 < r < 0) and 

statistically significant (p< .01) (Appendix M). This means that the Web representation of 

the indicators has a tendency to decrease as the freedom levels increase. Although 

Pearson correlation values for these six indicators were not as strong (between -0.298 

to -0.196, with special title, r = -.284; monumental building, r = -.248; authority figure,  

r = -.273; religion, r = -.229; leader link, r = -.298; and management hierarchy,  
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r = -.196), they reflected a steady negative correlation between the two variables and 

this relationship occurred less than 1% by chance. 

 After a careful examination of the treatment means for the three freedom groups 

by their statistical significance and their steady elevated trends on the six indicators, we 

conclude that these six indicators can be treated as strong indicators for measuring 

national political freedom presented on Web interface design.  

 

The ANOVA analysis failed to reject the null hypothesis for symmetric layout. However, 
the trend showed that Web pages tend to be more unsymmetrical as the freedom level 
increases. 
 
  
 The coding process for symmetric layout is limited to the homepage only. It is 

found that most of the homepages have followed a conventional layout and navigation 

standards for their interface designs. Since it is a common practice to place a navigation 

bar on the side of a Webpage, the page is considered 100% symmetric if the content is 

arranged symmetrically, regardless of the fact that the navigation bar occupies 30% of 

the homepage at either side. The results of the one-way ANOVA (Appendix J) showed 

that the means of the three freedom groups are not significantly different (not-free-

country group, M = 3.00; partly-free-country group, M = 2.75; free-country group, M = 

2.58; F = 1.017; p= .364). Therefore, we failed to reject the null hypothesis H0: μ1 = μ2= 

μ3 of identical treatment means for this indicator. Nevertheless, as we examine its trend 

over the treatment means, we learned from the trend graph for the rest four proposed 

indicators (Appendix N) that symmetric features decreased as the freedom levels 

increased (from not free to free). Further Pearson correlation coefficient analysis 

showed that the correlation value between symmetric feature and the freedom level is 
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negative and not statistically significant (r = -.118, p = .079, α = .01. See Appendix M). 

In summary, we failed to reject the null hypothesis for symmetric layout in this ANOVA 

test. However, both trend graph and Pearson correlation coefficient analysis have 

demonstrated a negative correlation between the Web representation of this indicator 

and the freedom levels.  

 
 
Three proposed indicators, official stamp/logo, security barrier not accessible, and 
manager section forbidden for access, failed to show any significant differences. They 
are not considered valid power distance indicators on Web interface design. 
 
 
 The results of the ANOVA analysis showed that for indicators, official stamp/logo, 

security barrier not accessible, and manager section forbidden for access, the means of 

the three freedom groups are not significantly different (Appendix J). For official 

stamp/logo, the means of the three freedom groups are very close to 4 (the highest 

score) with not-free-country group, M = 3.27; partly-free-country group, M = 3.58; and 

free-country group, M = 3.60. This is because official stamp/logo is always treated as a 

necessity, not a choice, in representing an institution's social status. In examining 

coding scores for this indicator, we found that only 24 out of 144 coding data did not 

reach the full score. That means 83.3% of the Websites have official stamps/logos and 

they are represented on the Websites to the greatest extent. The trend graph (Appendix 

N) showed that as the freedom level increased, the number of official stamp/logo 

increased at the same time, which did not coincide with the study of Marcus and 

Gould’s (2000). In addition, the Pearson correlation coefficient (Appendix M) confirmed 

that the correlation value between the freedom level and the representation of this 

indicator is positive and not statistically significant (r = .111, p = .092, at α = .01). 
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Therefore, it is concluded that the proposed indicator, official stamp/logo, is not a valid 

power distance indicator for representing a nation's political freedom level on Website 

design. 

 The indicators, security barrier not accessible and manager section forbidden for 

access, bore the same results in their ANOVA tests (Appendix J), failing to reject the 

null hypothesis of H0: μ1 = μ2= μ3 (security barrier, F = .534, p = .587; manager session 

forbidden, F = .60, p = .55). In fact, only 12 out of 144 Websites (8.3%) have set up 

security barriers to some extent where special passwords are required to gain access to 

certain sections or their intranets. Only 3 out of 144 Websites (2%) contain restricted 

managerial sessions, requiring special passwords to log in. There are also no clear 

trend patterns shown in Appendix N for the means of the three freedom groups.  

 Furthermore, the one-tailed Pearson correlation coefficient (Appendix M) showed 

that the relationship between the freedom level and the representation of both indicators 

is negative and not statistically significant (security barrier, r = -.07, p = .201; manager 

session Forbidden, r = -.046, p = .292). Considering the limited appearance of these two 

features on the sample Websites and the results of the ANOVA tests and Pearson 

correlation analysis, it is concluded that the two indicators, security barrier not 

accessible, and manager section forbidden for access, will not be considered as valid 

indicators for measuring national freedom level on Web interface design. 

 

Conclusion 
 
 
 This pilot study has successfully substantiated ten proposed power distance 

indicators. Six out of these ten proposed indicators are valid indicators for measuring 
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national political freedom on Web content and interface design. These six indicators are 

special title conferred on members of the organization, monumental building, authority 

figure, symbol of nationalism or religion, link to information about the leaders of the 

organization, and information arranged according to management hierarchy. The 

ANOVA analysis rejected the null hypothesis H0: μ1 = μ2= μ3 for all these six indicators. 

Further Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient implemented proved that linear 

relationship exists between the two variables (freedom level and Web presentation of 

the indicators) for these indicators, and the correlation between the two variables is 

negative and statistically significant. In addition, the trend over the treatment means 

showed that as the freedom level decreases from free to not free, more indicators are 

represented on Web interface design. 

 Although the ANOVA test failed to reject the null hypothesis for symmetric layout, 

its trend over the treatment means indicated that more symmetric layout could be found 

on the Websites as the freedom level decreased from free to not free. Its Pearson 

correlation analysis also proved that the correlation is negative between the freedom 

levels and the number of symmetric layout indicators represented on the Webpage. 

Therefore, it is obvious from the result of the study that a correlation between the 

national freedom level and the Web representation of this indicator has established. In 

the following principal research, symmetric layout is considered as one of the seven 

indicators for evaluating political freedom on Web interface design, although more 

discussion is needed to further our understanding of the direct relationship between the 

freedom level and its Web representation for this indicator. 
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 The ANOVA results for the remaining three proposed indicators, official 

stamp/logo, security barrier not accessible, and manager section forbidden for access, 

failed to show any significant differences. No clear trends were found for these three 

indicators. Therefore, they are not considered as valid power distance indicators on 

Web interface design. 

 In conclusion, this pilot study showed that six proposed indicators could be used 

as national political freedom measurements on Website interface design. The seventh 

indicator, symmetric layout, has shown a clear association between a country's freedom 

level and its Web representation. Further study is needed to re-evaluate this indicator 

and to advance our knowledge of its relationship with a country's freedom level. 

Nevertheless, it is expected that these seven indicators will be used in the next phrase 

of research to measure their representation of the political freedom on Web interface 

design and to examine their differences on government-based and business-oriented 

Websites. 

 

Data Collection and Research Design 
 

 
 As the content analysis method has been used to collect data in this principal 

research, quantitative research method was employed to analyze the data collected. 

The two coders who previously collected data in the pilot study conducted this content 

analysis for the principal research. They received a training session before the pilot 

study and their inter-coder reliability agreement level reached at .87. For this principal 

research, the two coders received a Coding Sheet for Principal Research (Appendix O) 

for each Website. This coding sheet was revised according to the result of the pilot 
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study. The coders were also given a Website List for Principal Research (Appendix C), 

with 312 Websites listed in alphabetical order. During the period of March 21, 2008 to 

May 6, 2008, the two coders coded these Websites independently based on the coding 

sheet. The final scores used in this data analysis were based on the agreement of the 

scores from the two coders. If disagreement occurred between the two coders, the 

researcher acted as the third coder. After reviewing and evaluating the Website, a 

majority rule was used to decide the final coding. Subsequently, the Statistical Package 

for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software was used to perform the second-stage 

quantitative data analysis. 

 

Two-way Analysis of Variance 
 
 
 Analysis of variance (ANOVA) is to test a statistical significance between two or 

more groups in dependent variable(s) by comparing the means of these groups on one 

or more independent variable(s). ANOVA has three statistical models: one-way ANOVA, 

two-way ANOVA, and multivariate ANOVA. One-way ANOVA requires only one 

dependent variable and one independent variable with more than two groups for that 

independent variable. Two-way ANOVA involves one dependent variable and two 

independent variables with two or more groups for each independent variable. 

Multivariate ANOVA is used when there are two or more dependent variables and two 

or more independent variables with two or more groups for each independent variable 

(Ho, 2006). Since one dependent variable (Web representation of power distance) and 

two independent variables (freedom level and Website type) are involved in this 
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research design, a multi-level two-way analysis of variance was conducted to examine 

both the main effects of and the interaction between the two independent variables 

(three freedom levels and two Website types). There is no covariate involved in this 

research. 

 This study intends to discover if freedom level, Website type, and freedom level 

by Website type interaction have effects on Web interface design. The basic research 

questions can be divided into the following: 

1. Is there a main effect of freedom level?  Do free-country Group, partly-free-

country group, and Not-free-Country Group differ significantly in representing 

national political freedom on Web interface design? 

2. Is there a main effect of Website type?  Do government-based Websites and 

business-oriented Websites differ significantly in representing national political 

freedom on Web interface design? 

3. Is there a freedom level by Website type interaction?  Is there any statistical 

significance between the combinations of free-country group, partly-free-country 

group, and Not-free-country group on government-based and business-oriented 

Websites?  

 

The first question was evaluated by comparing the row marginal means while the 

second was calculated by comparing the column marginal means (see Table 2). 

However, the third question was answered by comparing the cell means of the factorial 

combination of freedom level and Website type. The first question answers Research 
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Question 1 and the last two questions answer Research Question 2. Table 2 maps out 

the concept of this two-way 2 x 3 ANOVA. 

Table 2 
 
Map of the Two-way 2 x 3 ANOVA 

 Free-country 
group 

Partly-free-country 
group 

Not-free-country 
group Total 

Government 
Free-country 
Government 

(n = 48) 

Partly-free-country 
Government 

(n = 48) 

Not-free-country  
Government 

(n = 48) 

Government 
mean 

(n =144) 

Business 
Free-country 

Business 
(n = 48) 

Partly-free-country 
Business 
(n = 48) 

Not-free-country 
Business 
(n = 48) 

Business 
mean 

(n =144) 

Total 
Free-country 

mean  
(n = 96) 

Partly-free-country 
mean  

(n = 96) 

Not-free-country 
mean 

(n = 96) 

Grand mean 
(N = 288) 

 

Null Hypothesis 
 
 
 First, a null hypothesis (H0 (A)) is established that the means of the three freedom 

groups (free-country group, partly-free-country group and not-free-country group) are 

not significantly different (α = .05). That means 

H0 (A): μ A1 = μ A2= μ A3

Where 

H0 (A) = the null hypothesis for the three freedom groups, 

μA1 = the mean of free-country group, 

μA2 = the mean of partly-free-country group, and 

μA3 = the mean of not-free-country group 
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 In this hypothesis, N = 288 (the total number of Websites under study). n1 = 96 

(the number of Websites selected from free-country group, Level 1.0 -2.5). n2 = 96 (the 

number of Websites selected from partly-free-country group, Level 3.0 - 5.0, excluding 

Level 4 in the first test, randomly eliminating 12 Websites in the repeated test). n3 = 96 

(the number of Websites selected from not-free-country group, Level 5.5 - 7.0). If the 

null hypothesis is rejected, it indicates that statistically differences exist among freedom 

groups. 

 

 Secondly, a null hypothesis (H0 (B)) is established that the means of the two 

Website types (government-based Websites and business-oriented Websites) are not 

significantly different (α = .05). That means 

H0 (B): μB1 = μ B2

Where 

H0 (B) = the null hypothesis for the two Website types, 

μB1 = the mean of government-based Websites, and 

 μB2 = the mean of business-oriented Websites 

 In this hypothesis, N = 288 (the total number of Websites under study). n1 = 144 

(the number of government-based Websites). n2 = 144 (the number of business-oriented 

Websites). If the null hypothesis is rejected, it indicates that a statistically difference 

exists between government-based Websites and business-oriented Websites in 

representing national political freedom on Web interface design. 
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 Third, a null hypothesis (H0 (C)) is established that interaction effects do not exist 

between the two independent variables to influence scores on the dependent variable (α 

= .05). That is 

H0 (c): μ C1 = μ C2, μ C1 = μ C3, … μ C5 = μ C6

Where 

H0 (c) = the null hypothesis for the interaction effects, 

μc1 = the mean of government-based Websites in free-country group, 

μc2 = the mean of business-oriented Websites in free-country group, 

μc3 = the mean of government-based Websites in partly-free-country group, 

μc4 = the mean of business-oriented Websites in partly-free-country group, 

μc5 = the mean of government-based Websites in not-free-country group, and 

μc6 = the mean of business-oriented Websites in not-free-country group 

Here,  N = 288 (the total number of Websites under study) 

 n1 = 48 (the number of government-based Websites in free-country group) 

 n2 = 48 (the number of business-oriented Websites in free-country group) 

n3 = 48 (the number of government-based Websites in partly-free-country group) 

n4 = 48 (the number of business-oriented Websites in partly-free-country group) 

n5 = 48 (the number of government-based Websites in not-free-country group) 

n6 = 48 (the number of business-oriented Websites in not-free-country group).    

 According to the combination formula, where n is the total number of objects, k is 

the number to be chosen: 
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We get: 

15
)!26(!2

!6
2
66

2 =
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=⎟⎟
⎠

⎞
⎜⎜
⎝

⎛
=C (Comparisons). 

Since there are total of six means to compare (μ c1 … μ c6) and two means to 

compare each time, the combination results in 15 comparisons. If the null hypothesis is 

rejected, it indicates that freedom level and Website type interact with each other to 

influence the representation of national political freedom on the Website interface 

design. 

 

Statistical Test 
 
 The variables involved in this research are measured in an interval scale while 

the two independent variables are completely independent. With the intent of using the 

most powerful test to reject H0 (A), H0 (B) and H0 (c), a two-way ANOVA is selected to 

perform data analysis for the total score. Afterward, post hoc multiple comparison tests 

examine the locations of the differences found in the ANOVA analysis. A plot graph of 

freedom levels*Website types interaction is presented to show the interaction between 

the two independent variables. Towards the end, this study uses Cronbach's alpha to 

validate the internal consistency of the results. 

 

Summary 
 

 This chapter introduced the methods used in data collection and analysis, as well 

as the rationale behind them. It detailed the selection of dependent variable, 
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independent variables, sample size, and country and Website groupings. It also related 

the process of data collection and the approach this research plans to take in the data 

analysis phase. A pilot study was completed to validate the power distance indicators 

mentioned in the previous research, during which, an inter-coder reliability test was 

conducted and confirmed to ensure the agreement level between the two coders. We 

will devote our efforts to data analysis and output interpretation in the following chapters.
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CHAPTER 4 
 

DATA ANALYSIS 

 

Introduction 
 
 This chapter concentrates on analyzing data collected from March 21, 2008 to 

May 6, 2008. Altogether 312 sample Websites were coded using content analysis 

method based on the Coding Sheet for Principal Research (Appendix O). Among them, 

288 Websites went into this analysis stage. First, 24 Websites from Freedom Level 4.0 

in partly-free-country group were excluded in order to equalize the number of Websites 

among the three freedom groups. Subsequently, 24 Websites were randomly taken out 

from partly-free-country group instead of those from Freedom Level 4.0 and a two-way 

ANOVA analysis was re-run to ensure that the first run produced the same result as the 

second run. The findings showed that the first run, with the exclusion of Freedom Level 

4.0, reached the same result as the second run with the random exclusion of the 

Websites from partly-free-country group, although some slight fluctuations occurred. 

 Before the ANOVA test was conducted, three assumptions had to be checked 

and satisfied: independent observations, normal distribution, and homogeneity of 

variance (Ho, 2006). The first assumption suggests that the observations are all 

independent of each other. The second assumption requires that the dependent 

variable in the ANOVA analysis have a normal distribution. The third assumption 
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expects equal variances of the dependent variable remain constant across the levels of 

the independent variables (Ho, 2006; Meyers, Gamst, & Guarino, 2006). 

 In this study, the first assumption has been satisfied since the two coders 

examined the Websites independently and the Websites under this study are individual 

Websites, independent with each other. There were no repeated measures involved. 

 The second assumption, normal distribution of the dependent variable is checked 

by running a histogram generated by SPSS statistic program. In this study, the 

dependent variable is Web representation of power distance, which is the sum of the 

scores derived from the content analysis on each Website for the seven power distance 

indicators. The result showed that with 288 sample Websites, the mean total score 

equals to 13.17 in a range of 0 to 28 with a standard deviation of 6.938 (see Figure 4).  
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N = 288 
 
  

Figure 4.   Histogram of distribution of total scores for sample Websites. 
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With total points on the X-axis, Figure 4 provides a graphical display of how many 

Websites scored in each 1.66-point range of values. It is concluded from Figure 4 that 

the dependent variable (total score - Web representation of power distance) has a near 

perfect normal distribution. 

 As required by the third assumption, each of the three freedom groups (free-

country group, partly-free-country group, and not-free-country group) should have 

approximately equal variances on the two dependent variables (freedom level and 

Website type). This can be verified by applying Levene's test for homogeneity of 

variances. Levene’s test for homogeneity of variances “assess(es) the statistical 

hypothesis of equal variances across the levels of the independent variable” (Meyers, 

Gamst, & Guarino, 2006, p. 70). It tests the null hypothesis that the variances are equal. 

If p < .05, the null hypothesis of equal variances is rejected and unequal variability is 

assumed. Otherwise, the null hypothesis is accepted and equal variability is assumed 

(Ho, 2006). Before Levene's test, a null hypothesis was established for this study that 

the variances were all equal. This means there is no significant difference between the 

groups' mean scores. In this research, the samples are in equal size between each 

freedom group and Website type. As a result, the Levene statistic is F (5, 282) = 2.042 

and the corresponding level of significance is large (p = .073, which is greater than 

α = .05, see Table 3). Therefore, we failed to reject the null hypothesis that the 

variances are all equal. Since there is enough evidence that the assumption of 

homogeneity of variance has been met in this research (with random and independent 

samples), the two-way ANOVA test might be continued. 
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Table 3  

Levene's Test for Equality of Error Variances 

F df1 df2 Sig. 

2.042 5 282 .073 
 

 

Results 
 
 
Great differences exist in Website design reflecting national political freedom 
 
 
 At the first stage of investigation, 156 government-based Websites and 156 

business-oriented Websites were randomly selected and analyzed for each of the seven 

power distance indicators. It appears that great differences exist in Website design 

when Websites are measured by these indicators. 

 Consulate of Equatorial Guinea in Romania Website (not-free-country group, 

Level 6.5) was scored among the highest in content analysis, totaling 28 (see Figure 5). 

The layout of the homepage is completely symmetrical from left to right (scored 4). The 

second indicator, monumental building, is coded according to the Webpage level on 

which a monumental building is displayed (homepage, second level Webpage, or third 

level Webpage), and whether it is the focus of the Website or is used as a background 

in a picture. The findings indicate that more monumental buildings appear on Not-free- 

country Group Websites as the focus of the homepage, usually situated at the center of 

the Webpage, and while free-country group Websites show fewer monumental buildings 

or the buildings are placed as the background of an event. On this Website, a picture of 
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a monumental building is located on the homepage as one of the main pictures (scored 

4).  

 

 

Coat of 
arms as a 
symbol of 
nationalism 

Symmetric 
layout 

Authority 
figures 

Special 
titles 

First link to 
Consul's 
message and 
biography 

Symbol of 
nationalism 

Country flag 
as a symbol of 
nationalism

Monumental 
building 

Figure 5.   Consulate of Equatorial Guinea in Romania homepage. Freedom Level 6.5 

at http://www.ecaligiuri.com/index2.php. 
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Symbol of nationalism includes any national flags and/or country maps appeared 

on the Website. Religious remarks, pictures, paintings, and Web links to external 

religious Websites are considered as symbols of religion. The basic coding criterion for 

this indicator is focused on the Website level on which the symbol appears. It is easy to 

find on this Website a national flag and a coat of arms on the top banner to represent 

symbols of nationalism throughout the homepage and all the subsequent second level 

and third level Web pages. There is also a picture of national flag on the homepage 

(scored 4).  

 This study is also designed to code any information on organizational charts, 

titles and ranks of the administrators according to their location and transparency on the 

Website. It aims to find out the importance the Web designers (or rather the 

administrators) have placed on the leaders (or administrators themselves). It is believed 

that a Website's navigation scheme is achieved through the proper arrangement of the 

links on and between Web pages. The information placed on the homepage is usually 

the most important of all. This study intends to examine this feature horizontally (the 

arrangement of the administration information on the navigation bar of the homepage) 

and vertically (the Website level it is placed on). The indicator, information arranged 

according to management hierarchy, is coded to examine the link arrangement on the 

navigation bar of the homepage. Navigation bars, in most cases, are placed on the left 

side, at the top and/or at the bottom of the Webpage. Sometimes, two navigation bars 

appear on the same page. Since the vertical navigation bar bear the same weight in 

importance as the horizontal navigation bar, this study weights the two bars the same in 

the coding theme. Generally, links on a navigation bar are arranged according to their 

 69



 

importance from left to right or from top to bottom. It is the intention of this study to find 

out how important the Web designers (or the administrators) view the information on 

leaders by examining the location of the Administration link on the navigation bar of the 

homepage. If the Administration link is not presented directly on the homepage, any link 

providing information on administrators or any link to Administration is considered as the 

link to be examined for this purpose. Generally, Home link points back to the homepage 

and is placed as the first on the navigation bar. It is simply a navigation tool, instead of 

an authoritative indicator. Therefore, it is not counted as one of the links displayed 

before the Administration link in this study. On this Website, it is easy to find that three 

out of eight links (except Home link) on the horizontal navigation bar are dedicated to 

the Consul, carrying his personal message as well as introducing his career and 

educational background. They are named as El Cónsul, Carrera, and Short CV. El 

Cónsul, carrying the Consul’s message and personal biography, is the first link on the 

navigation bar (scored 4 for information arranged according to management hierarchy). 

Furthermore, Consul's message, biography and CV are arranged on the second level 

Webpage with direct links to the homepage. These links appear on each Web page, as 

they are part of the designed navigation bar (scored 4 for link to information about the 

leaders). Usually this information can be found under Administration, About, or 

Introduction links.  

 The indicator, authority figure, is evaluated in this study by the frequency of its 

appearance and the Webpage level on which it is displayed. Authority figures include 

administrators and any prominent visitors. These authority figures can usually be found 

on the homepage, in the News section and/or the Administration section. They can also 
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be found in the Introduction section, under the History link, which introduces former 

administrators of the organization. Several authority figures can be found on the 

homepage of Consulate of Equatorial Guinea in Romania. The picture of Consul 

Eugenio Roberto Caligiuri is displayed in the middle of the homepage (scored 4). 

 A special title placed in front of a person’s name usually shows a certain degree 

of respect from others and represents the importance of his/her social status. It can be 

of religion, political party, or social class, including but not limited to titles such as 

Honorable, H.E., His/Her Majesty, His/Her Excellency, His/Her Highness, Rev., Leader, 

and so forth. However, academic titles, such as Dr., President, and Dean, are not 

considered in this category. Several special titles appeared on this homepage, such as 

Consulado Honorario and Cónsul Honorario (scored 4). 

On the other hand, Cathay Financial (Figure 6) from Taiwan (Level 1.5 in free-

country group) scores very low on its coding sheet (scored 4). It features an 

unsymmetrical layout (scored 0) without any monumental buildings (scored 0) shown on 

any of its Web pages. There is no symbol of nationalism or religion found on the 

Website, either (scored 0). A link to the company's organization chart and board of 

directors is arranged as the second link on the horizontal navigation bar (scored 3) and 

shown on the second level Webpage (scored 1).  There is no authority figure (scored 0) 

and special title (scored 0) found on this Website.  

From these two Website examples, it is clear that differences exist in Web 

interface design when Websites are measured by these power distance indicators. In 

other words, national political freedom is represented in a wide spectrum on these three 

freedom group Websites. 
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Figure 6.   Cathay Financial homepage (Taiwan). free-country group, Level 1.5 at 

http://www.cathayholdings.com.tw/new/eng/index.htm. 

 
 

There is a main effect of freedom level. That is, free-country group, partly-free-country 

group, and Not-free-Country Group differ significantly in representing national political 

freedom on Web interface design. 

 
 At the analysis stage, a multi-level two-way analysis of variance was conducted 

to investigate the data collected. There were 288 Websites included in the analysis 

stage with 96 Websites in each of the three freedom groups. The data presented in 

Table 4 show the descriptive statistical analysis in the number of Websites involved, 

means and standard deviations for each group. 
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Table 4 
 
Descriptive Statistics - Table of Means for Principal Research 

Freedom Groups Sectors Mean Std. Deviation N

Free-country group Government 15.63 4.810 48

 business 7.98 3.867 48

  Total 11.80 5.798 96

Partly-free-country group Government 18.83 5.443 48

 business 8.38 5.102 48

  Total 13.60 7.428 96

Not-free-country group Government 19.58 5.414 48

 business 8.65 4.245 48

  Total 14.11 7.324 96

Total Government 18.01 5.472 144

  business 8.33 4.412 144

  Total 13.17 6.938 288
 

The data in Table 4 is reorganized into Table 5 and presented in an easy-to-read 

format. The analysis of these means in Table 5 further reveals that there are differences 

between the cell means (government: 15.63 vs. 18.83 vs. 19.58; business: 7.98 vs. 8.38 

vs. 8.65), as well as the marginal means (total: 11.80 vs. 13.60 vs. 14.11) for the three 

freedom level groups across the two Website types.  
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Table 5 
 
Table of Means - Reorganized 

 Free-country 
group 

Partly-free-
country group 

Not-free-country 
group Total 

Government 15.63 18.83 19.58 18.01 

Business 7.98 8.38 8.65 8.33 

Total 11.80 13.60 14.11 13.17 

 

An advance ANOVA test was conducted to examine the statistical significance. 

As a result, the ANOVA Summary Table (Table 6) calculated the differences of the 

means for these freedom groups and indicated that they are statistically significant. The 

output indicated that the FA statistic for the freedom level main effect is 6.026 with 2 and 

282 degrees of freedom and with observed significance level at .003. Since p-value 

of .003 < .05, the null hypothesis that there is no statistical difference between the three 

freedom groups is rejected. There is enough evidence to conclude that the main effect 

for freedom level is statistically significant at α = .05 significance level and there are  

 
Table 6 
 
ANOVA Summary Table - Tests of Between-Subjects Effects 

Source 
Type III Sum 
of Squares df 

Mean 
Square F p 

Partial 
Eta 

Squared 

Freedom Level 283.382 2 141.691 6.026 .003* .041 

Sectors 6747.347 1 6747.347 286.957 .000* .504 
Freedom Level 
*Sectors 151.799 2 75.899 3.228 .041* .022 

Error 6630.792 282 23.513   
 
* The mean difference is significant at the .05 level. 
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differences among the freedom levels in mean value of the Websites, although the 

differences are small (Partial Eta Squared = .041). Thus, it is concluded that a nation's 

political freedom level has an influence on Web interface design. This main effect is the 

result of evaluating the differences among the three marginal means (11.80 vs. 13.60 vs. 

14.11 shown in Table 5) associated with the freedom levels. 

Moreover, the cell means and the marginal means for freedom groups (from Free-

country, Party-free-country, to Not-free-country) showed a general increase in the 

government sector, the business sector and the overall scores (Table 5). It indicated 

that on both government-based Websites and business-oriented Websites, the number 

of power distance indicators increased as the freedom level decreased. Figure 7 shows 

this trend in graph format. 
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Figure 7.   Estimated marginal means of total. 
 

 75



 

Post hoc approach is usually used after ANOVA test has detected the differences 

among group means. Generally, ANOVA test intents to detect if there are any 

differences among the sample means, while post hoc approach aims to test “all possible 

pairwise comparisons of between-group means” to find out where these differences 

exist (Meyer, Gamst, & Guarino, 2006, p. 426). These comparisons “compare each 

group with every other group” (Meyer et al., p. 426) and Tukey (honestly significant 

difference - HSD) test is one of the popular options (Ho, 2006). Since the differences 

have been detected among the freedom levels, a Tukey post hoc test is performed in 

this research to determine where the differences lie among the three freedom groups. 

The results (Table 7) indicated that free-country group score mean was significantly 

higher than partly-free-country group score mean (p = .028 < .05) and not-free-country 

group mean (p = .003 < .05). However, there was no significant difference between 

partly-free-country group and not-free-country group means (p = .746 < .05). Thus, with 

95% of confidence, free-country group yielded higher mean values in representing  

 
Table 7 
 
Multiple Comparisons between Freedom Groups 

 (I) Freedom Groups (J) Freedom Groups Mean Difference 
(I-J) Sig. 

Free-country group Partly-free-country group -1.80 .028* 

 Not-free-country group -2.31 .003* 

Partly-free-country group Not-free-country group -.51 .746    

 
* The mean difference is significant at the .05 level. 
 
 
national political freedom via Web design compared to partly-free-country group and 
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not-free-country group. Therefore, it is concluded that free-country group exhibited 

fewer power distance indicators on its Websites and consequently demonstrated more 

national political freedom. 

 
There is a main effect for Website type. That is, government-based Websites and 

business-oriented Websites differ significantly in representing national political freedom. 

Government-based Websites scored much higher than business-oriented Websites. 

 
 
 Among the 288 Websites studied in the analysis stage, there are 144 Websites in 

the government sector and 144 in the business sector. As shown in Table 5, the cell 

means (free-country group: 15.63 vs. 7.98; partly-free-country group: 18.83 vs. 8.38; 

not-free-country group: 19.58 vs. 8.65) as well as the margin means (Total: 18.01 vs. 

8.33) for these two Website types suggested that differences exist across the three 

freedom groups. An advance ANOVA analysis confirmed the difference between the 

two sectors (Table 6). The output of the ANOVA test indicated that the FB statistic for 

the Website type main effect is 286.975 with 1 and 282 degrees of freedom and with the 

observed significance level at .000. Since the p-value of .000 is less than .05, the null 

hypothesis that there is no difference between the means of these two Website types is 

rejected. So it is concluded that the main effect for Website type is statistically 

significant at the α = .05 significance level, which indicates that there is a significant 

difference between Website types in mean value for the representation of power 

distance indicators on Web interface design. In addition, the Partial Eta Squared score 

revealed that the difference is moderate (Partial Eta Squared = .504). Furthermore, as 

shown in Table 5, the mean scores of government-based Websites more than doubled 

those of business-oriented Websites across the three freedom levels. Therefore, we 

 77



 

concluded that government-based Websites embed more power distance indicators 

than business-oriented Websites do. 

 

There is a freedom level by Website type interaction.  

 
 The purpose of evaluating freedom level by Website type interaction is to identify 

if the effect of freedom level on Web representation depends on Website type or vice 

versa. Since there are three freedom levels and two Website types, 15 interactions are 

examined in this study (see Equation 2). The ANOVA test results (Table 6) indicated 

that the freedom level by Website type interaction is significant, FAB (2, 282) = 3.228, p 

= .041 at α = .05 significance level. This interaction can also be identified in Figure 7, in 

which the two lines for government-based Websites and business-oriented Websites 

are not in parallel position. This significance of the freedom level by Website type 

interaction indicates that overall the effect of freedom level on Web representation of 

national political freedom depends on Website type or vice versa. In other words, the 

interaction of freedom level and Website type has an effect on deciding a country’s 

national political freedom level represented on Web interface design. It also means that 

certain Websites, depending on their country’s power distance level and their Website 

type (government-based or business-oriented) may represent more of a country’s 

national political freedom on Web interface design, while others may not. However, the 

ANOVA test did not indicate where the differences were, i.e., between what kind of 

Website and in which freedom group. To identify specific Websites, Tukey post hoc 

multiple comparisons were conducted. The results showed that 11 out of 15 pairs of 

means are statistically different (Table 8).  
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Table 8 
 
Multiple Comparisons for Freedom Level by Website Type Interaction 

95% Confidence 
Interval 

 (I) Group 
 

(J) Group 
 

Mean 
Difference (I-J)

 

Std. 
Error 

 
Sig. 

 
Lower 
Bound 

Upper 
Bound 

Free-Country-Group – government  

     Free – business 7.646 .990 .000* 4.81 10.49 

     Partly-free – gov. -3.208 .990 .017* -6.05 -.37 

     Partly-free – business 7.250 .990 .000* 4.41 10.09 

     Not-free – gov. -3.958 .990 .001* -6.80 -1.12 

     Not-free – business 6.979 .990 .000* 4.14 9.82 

  Free-Country-Group – business 

      Partly-free – gov. -10.854 .990 .000* -13.69 -8.01 

      Partly-free –business -.396 .990 .999 -3.24 2.44 

      Not-free – gov. -11.604 .990 .000* -14.44 -8.76 

      Not-free – business -.667 .990 .985 -3.51 2.17 

  Partly-free-Country-Group – government 

      Partly-free –business 10.458 .990 .000* 7.62 13.30 

      Not-free – gov. -.750 .990 .974 -3.59 2.09 

      Not-free – business 10.188 .990 .000* 7.35 13.03 

  Partly-free-Country-Group –- business 

      Not-free – gov. -11.208 .990 .000* -14.05 -8.37 

      Not-free – business -.271 .990 1.000 -3.11 2.57 

  Not-free-Country-Group – government 

      Not-free – business 10.938 .990 .000* 8.10 13.78 
 
*p < .05. 

 

They are further illustrated in Figure 8. The results showed that Website type has 
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a great influence on the significance level, since each pair of means between the 

government-base Websites and business-oriented Websites is statistically significant. 

The only four pairs of means, which are not significant, are located within the same 

Website type. On the other hand, no statistical significance in means was found among 

free-country group business-oriented Websites, partly-free-country group business-

oriented Websites, and not-free-country group business-oriented Websites. That means 

business-oriented Websites did not show much of the freedom indicators on Web 

interface design across the three freedom groups. This indicates that Website type 

influences the significance level between the freedom groups. Moreover, both freedom 

level and Website type have a significant interaction effect on mean value of Web 

interface design. 

 
 Government-based Websites   Business-oriented Websites 

 

           
Free-country group Free-country group 

  
Not-free-country 

group 
Partly-free-country

group 
Not-free-country 

group 
Partly-free-country 

group 
 

 
  

Figure 8.   Means not statistically significant between these two groups. 
  

 

Reliability and Replicability 
 
 
 In order to assess the reliability of the measuring instrument used in this 

research and to examine the stable behavioral relations between dependent variable 

and independent variables, it is necessary to verify the external and internal consistency 
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of the results of all the items. Generally, a reliability test is to assess whether a test will 

produce identical results over repeated tests if identical samples are applied in the 

same setting. 

   External consistency measurement refers to the procedure of comparing two 

test results to verify the reliability of the measure. It usually includes test-retest method 

and parallel forms of the same test method (Ho, 2006). Test-retest method checks 

reliability by comparing two sets of results gathered from the same group of samples at 

two different times. Parallel forms of the same test method checks reliability by 

evaluating two sets of results collected from equivalent but different groups of samples 

(Ho, 2006). This research applied parallel forms of the same test method to determine 

its external reliability. After the first run of the ANOVA with 288 Websites (24 Websites 

from Freedom Level 4.0 in partly-free-country group were excluded), the second run 

took place with the same number of Websites but instead, randomly excluding 24 

Websites from the same country group. The initial intention of eliminating these 24 

Websites is to balance the number of Websites among the three freedom groups 

involved in the research, which is the requirement for running an ANOVA test. However, 

this second run also satisfies the requirement of checking the external consistency and 

reliability of the research, as the two runs yield the same findings although slight 

difference in statistics occurred. 

 Internal consistency measurement intends to examine if all the items in the test 

are consistent in measuring the phenomenon investigated (Ho, 2006). Cronbach’s alpha 

is the most widely used method for measuring internal consistency (George & Mallery, 

2008). It can be interpreted as the mean of all possible split-half correlation coefficients 
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(α) within a test. Cronbach’s alpha formula (Cronbach, 1951, p. 321) is defined as 

follows: 

               ⎟
⎟
⎠

⎞
⎜
⎜
⎝

⎛
−

−
= ∑

test

subtests

V
V

n
n 1
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Where n is the number of subtests/items, ∑ subtestsV is the sum of the variances for 

the n individual subtests/items, and is the variance for the sum of all the 

subtests/items. Generally, 

testV

alpha results range between 0 and 1. The closer the alpha is 

to 1.00, the greater internal consistency is achieved by the measuring instrument.  

 In this study, Cronbach's alpha was calculated with SPSS software. Of the total 

sample of 288 Websites, all data were processed in the analysis for the seven power 

distance indicators (n = 7). The Reliability Output (Table 9) showed that Cronbach's 

alpha coefficient equals to .733 for these seven items, which indicated good overall 

internal consistency of the measurement scales constructed for this research. In 

addition, Item-Total Statistics table (Table 9) shows the statistics of Cronbach's alpha if 

item deleted. The numbers shown under this column are the result of alpha if one of the 

seven items (on the left) has ever been deleted. Out of the seven items, only statistics 

for symmetric layout in this column reaches .738, which is greater than Cronbach's 

alpha (.733). Although deleting this item will increase the overall consistency correlation 

coefficient, the increase, however, is small and the item is much needed as an indicator 

for national political freedom on Web interface design. For this reason, this item is 

retained in this research. 
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Table 9 
 
Reliability Output 
 

Case Processing Summary 
 

N % 

Valid 288 100.0

Excluded 0 0Cases 

Total 288 100.0
 
 

Reliability Statistics 
 

Cronbach's alpha n of Items 
.733 7 

 
 

Item-total Statistics 
 

 

Scale mean 
if item 

deleted 
Scale variance 
if item deleted 

Corrected 
item-total 

correlation 

Cronbach's 
alpha if item 

deleted 

Symmetric layout 10.38 41.211 .267 .738 

Building 11.41 38.431 .318 .733 

Religion 11.60 32.464 .544 .676 

Leader link 11.48 34.669 .607 .664 
Management 
hierarchy 10.40 37.774 .383 .716 

Authority figure 11.47 36.996 .493 .691 

Special title 12.30 36.999 .544 .682 
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Summary 
 
 

This chapter detailed the process of analyzing 288 sample Websites. The results 

of two-way ANOVA test have led to some interesting observations focusing on the two 

research questions. Furthermore, Tukey post hoc comparisons were carried out to 

locate the differences among the three freedom levels. Cronbach’s alpha coefficient 

was also calculated to measure the internal consistency of the research. The next 

chapter will offer a discussion of the findings and draw inferences from data analysis. 

Recommendations for further research will be provided at the end. 
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CHAPTER 5 
 

DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATIONS 

 
 
 This study has furthered our understanding of how national political freedom is 

represented on Web interface design. It has also advanced our knowledge of the 

differences between government-based Websites and business-oriented Websites in 

representing political freedom levels. In addition, it also confirmed the validity of seven 

power distance indicators and provided an exploratory framework for evaluating Web 

interface design. This chapter will discuss the findings of this study, make inferences 

from data analysis, reflect on the implication of the study, and offer recommendations 

for further research. 

 
 

Discussion 
 
 

This study has focused on two research questions. They are: 
 
 

1. To what extent is a country’s national political freedom represented on 

Web interface design? 

2. Does any statistical difference exist between a country’s government-

based Websites and its business-oriented Websites in representing national 

political freedom? 
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In data analysis phase, Research Question 1 has been reiterated as:  

Is there a main effect of freedom level? Do free-country Group, partly-free-

country group, and Not-free-Country Group differ significantly in representing 

national political freedom on Web interface design? 

 

Several approaches have been taken to address this research question. A multi-

level two-way ANOVA was applied to describe the means and standard deviations of 

each group, to analyze the statistical significance among the three freedom groups, as 

well as to measure the strength of the relationships between the groups. Further Tukey 

post hoc comparisons were performed to locate the differences. After an analysis of the 

data generated from the tests, it is concluded that significant differences exist among 

the three freedom groups (Table 6) and fewer power distance indicators are shown on 

Websites in free-country Group than in partly-free-country group and not-free-country 

group (Figure 7). This indicates that a country’s national political freedom level 

represented on Web interface design coordinates with its freedom level found through 

other traditional means of surveys, questionnaires, and interviews. In this way, it 

suggests that a country’s national political freedom level can be assessed by analyzing 

power distance indicators represented on Web interface design. However, after a 

thorough examination of the coding scores for each Website, it is evident that not all 

Websites in the same freedom level scored in a close range. As the freedom level 

decreases from free to not free, the coding scores show an increase for both Website 

types and total scores. Nonetheless, the increase is not a steady one. A box plot is 

constructed to display the distribution and the percentiles of the total score collected 
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from the sample Websites (see Figure 9). It shows that there is some variation in the 

 

Figure 9.   Box plot for three freedom groups: total score. 
 
Note: Illustration adapted from SPSS for Windows: Step by Step, by D. George and P. Mallery, 2008, 8th 

ed., New York: Pearson, p. 81. 

 

total scores of the three freedom groups. Although the median and the range showed 

some increases from free-country group to not-free-country group, the difference is not 

so obvious between the median of partly-free-country group and that of not-free-country 

group. In addition, the lower quartile of partly-free-country group almost has the same 

range as that of not-free-country group. In addition, most of their inter quartile ranges 

overlap with each other. This means some of the Websites in the lower quartile of 
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partly-free-country group scored very close to some of the Websites in the lower quartile 

of not-free-country group. If we happen to sample the Websites located in these two 

quartiles, it would be a challenge to find any statistical differences between the 

treatment means of these two groups. Therefore, a country’s national political freedom 

cannot be determined just by the examination of a few Websites. It is necessary to 

increase the sample size to at least 10% of the population in order to get an accurate 

freedom level assessment for a country in a research project. 

 

  Research Question 2 can be divided into two sub-questions: 

1. Is there a main effect of Website type?  Do government-based Websites 

and business-oriented Websites differ significantly in representing national 

political freedom on Web interface design? 

2. Is there a freedom level by Website type interaction?  Is there any 

statistical significance between the combinations of free-country group, partly-

free-country group, and Not-free-country group on government-based and 

business-oriented Websites? 

 

The first sub-question explores the differences of freedom representation 

between government-based Websites and business-oriented Websites by using 

freedom indicators as a measurement. The result of the two-way ANOVA test indicates 

that there is statistical significance between the means of government-based Websites 

and that of business-oriented Websites (Table 6). In addition, it is clear that the mean 

scores of government-based Websites more than doubled the mean scores of 
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business-oriented Websites for each freedom level (Table 5). In the initial process of 

choosing sectors to examine freedom representations on the Web, government-based 

Websites became the first choice, since they function as official government Web 

portals. Besides, the government usually oversees the construction of its official 

Website. The ideals, the power, and the mental structure of the government are fully 

represented on its government-base Websites, whether the government is people-

oriented or power-centered. On the contrary, governments have limited controls over 

business-oriented Websites, which renders these Websites free from any government 

restrictions. Majority of companies establish their Websites with the intent of introducing 

themselves to the public in order to gain trust from their customers. The rationale of 

selecting these two opposite Website sectors in the designing phase is to examine if the 

freedom representation on Web interface design would prove to be at the same level 

across different Website types. The results of the ANOVA test indicate that both 

government-based Websites and business-oriented Websites represent a country’s 

political freedom level, since the mean scores for both sectors increased as the freedom 

level decreased (Table 5). However, there is a huge difference between the mean 

scores of these two sectors (government-based Websites, M = 18.01; business-oriented 

Websites, M = 8.33). These findings reveal that government-based Websites represent 

more of freedom indicators and they are easier to use for locating a country’s political 

freedom level. Apparently, not all Website types reflect national political freedom at the 

same level. National political freedom level may not be easily detected depending on 

the selection of Website sectors. Therefore, Website type plays an important part in 

investigating national political freedom level on Web interface design. 
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The second sub-question aims to detect freedom level and Website type 

interaction. While Research Question 1 and Sub-question 1 compare the marginal 

means of freedom groups and Website types respectively, Sub-question 2 compares 

one-by-one the cell means between freedom groups and Website types. The ANOVA 

test shows that the overall interaction is statistically significant (Table 6). In addition, the 

results from the Tukey post hoc comparisons conducted afterwards indicate that only 4 

of the15 pairs of comparisons do not show any statistical significance (Table 8). These 

four pairs are located between freedom levels within the same Website types (Figure 8). 

Examining the location of these four pairs reveals that in business sector, the mean 

scores of the three freedom groups are not statistically significant, indicating that there 

is not much of a difference on business-oriented Websites between the three freedom 

levels in representing national political freedom. Although the overall mean scores are 

significantly different among the three freedom groups, this result may depend on the 

relatively large difference between the mean scores of government-based Websites. 

Therefore, it is obvious that business sector is not an effective sector to detect national 

political freedom level on Web interface design. This echoes the conclusion made from 

Sub-question 1. 

 In summary, main conclusions from this research can be summarized into three 

aspects. First, great differences exist in Web interface design for representing national 

political freedom. Secondly, a country's national political freedom level can be detected 

by analyzing Web interface design with effective freedom indicators. Third, Website type 

influences the outcome of the study. The first two findings are consistent with Marcus 

and Gould (2000) theory of cultural dimensions represented on Web interface design 
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and have supported his theory with statistical analysis. The third finding was not 

anticipated at the beginning of the research. It is, however, conceptually informative and 

has advanced our knowledge in this research field. 

 In addition to the above conclusions found under a close examination of data 

analysis, further observations have also been made during this data analysis process. 

In the course of evaluating cultural impact on Web interface design, we realize that 

culture is only one of the variables affecting Web interface design. Other variables, such 

as financial resources, technology advancement, and software architecture, contribute 

to the similarity and dissimilarity of Web interface design as well.  

An organization's financial resources determine its technology development and 

its software availability and accessibility. They have a tremendous impact on software 

selections and the technical skills of Web designers. Therefore, a company's overall 

financial situation certainly should not be overlooked in the examination of Web 

representations. 

While compiling the sample Website lists for this research, the researcher came 

across some difficulties in fulfilling the required number of Websites for some countries 

in Partly-free-county Group, especially in not-free-country group. In addition, in not-free-

country group, interface designs for some Websites are found too simple. From the 

overall design of these Websites, it is easy to see that this minimalism is not the 

intention of the Website designer, but the consequence of lacking necessary resources 

in information technology. Some Websites have established their Web links to the 

administrators, but their pictures are not properly uploaded or the Web pages are still 

under construction. Because of the technological limitations in some nations, certain 

 91



 

power distance indicators were not displayed on their Websites and the coding scores 

for these nations appeared lower than they might be. Therefore, a country’s 

technological advancement should be considered in future Web interface analysis as a 

covariate, which has substantial correlation with the coding scores and is regarded as 

an adjustment to the results of differences among the freedom groups (George & 

Mallery, 2008). 

In addition, in the pilot study, two indicators, security barrier not accessible and 

manager section forbidden for access, scored very low on sample Websites across all 

three freedom groups. These two indicators failed to show any statistical significance in 

this study and there were no clear trends in their treatment means. It is obvious that 

their appearance depends on the functionality of the software system used to build the 

Website. These two indicators are more technologically driven than culturally affected. 

Because of software functionality, some interface elements may be maximized or 

limited. Since Web designers usually follow the pre-designed functions embedded in the 

software, this mimetic aspect of software design has made Web interface design more 

similar than different. As a result, software functionality becomes one of the factors 

influencing cultural representation on the Web. 

 In the pilot study, six indicators have been confirmed as the freedom indicators to 

assess national political freedom level on Web interface design. They bear a 

resemblance in their trend directions and statistical significance tests. Nevertheless, 

they are not presented on the Website in the same magnitude. As shown in Appendix L, 

the six proposed indicators are arranged into three groups according to their scored 

means. At the lower end, the means of special title and symbol of nationalism and 
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religion are scored in the range of 0.10 to 1.02 on a 0 to 4 rating scale. However, at the 

higher end, the means of monumental building, link to information about the leaders and 

information arranged according to management hierarchy achieved their mean scores 

from 2.19 to 3.27. At the same time, the range of means for authority figure is situated in 

the middle. This implies that some indicators can be easily identified whereas others 

may appear sparsely on the Website and need special efforts to locate them. For 

example, special title may not appear on the homepage right at the front. It may be 

embedded in a news article in PDF format. A search to the entire Website is usually the 

best solution. 

 

Limitations of the Study 
 
 
 Website selection for the pilot study and the principal research is guided strictly 

by the selection guidelines defined in the Research Method chapter. However, the 

researcher found it difficult at times to locate enough Websites for certain countries in 

not-free-country group. As a result, replacements have been made for some countries 

in the initial list. In this way, some of the countries are left out of the study because of 

their technology disadvantages. Additionally, it is found that Web designs for some 

Websites in not-free-country group exhibit only basic features without levels and 

navigation bars. It is evident that some freedom indicators were not present on the 

Website, not because of Web designers’ mental models, but because of the country’s 

limitations in technology. As a result, a country’s freedom level represented on these 

Web interface designs may have been elevated due to its technology deficiency. 

Therefore, a country’s technology level should be taken into consideration in future 
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studies on Web interface design. Much more research is necessary to clarify the 

correlations of Web representation of political freedom with a country's technology level. 

What is more, Web instability may also affect the coding agreement between the 

two coders in the process of content analysis. Although the two coders analyzed the 

Websites within a specific period of time, Web interface may change at any given time, 

even between the coding time of one coder and the other. Therefore, a third coder is 

required as a deciding factor in coding process. 

Furthermore, in the process of sampling colleges and universities in the pilot 

study, the nature of the institution was not taken into consideration. The colleges and 

universities selected for a country may include public institutions, private institutions, or 

both. However, since the purpose of the pilot study is to validate ten power distance 

indicators, a general college/university setting has served this purpose well. 

In addition, considering that power distance, the main concept of this study, is 

originated from Hofstede's surveys conducted in the 1960s and 1970s within a large 

organization, we realize that the concept may have shifted given the technology 

advancement for the past half century. However, the purpose of this study and that of 

Hofstede's surveys are the same - to evaluate the mental structures on freedom, 

although the research method has been transformed from traditional surveys to 

innovative Website analysis. 

 

Recommendations for Further Research 
 
 
 The findings from this study have confirmed that national political freedom is 

represented on Web interface design. As power distance is only one of the five culture 
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dimensions identified by Hofstede, it is necessary to extend this statistical validation to 

the other four culture dimensions, individualism versus collectivism, masculinity versus 

femininity, uncertainty avoidance, and long-term time orientation versus short-term time 

orientation. Marcus (2005) has identified corresponding Web indicators for these four 

dimensions and these identified Web indicators need to be analyzed and validated. 

Moreover, with technology transformation, the diffusion of innovations, and globalization 

and localization of the Web, new indicators may have emerged and need to be 

identified and mapped to culture dimensions. Coding sheets should be developed to 

customize the special features of each dimension. Furthermore, more Website types 

should be tested to find out the best ones to represent each culture dimension on Web 

interface design. Future study may also focus on the evaluation of different Website 

sectors in representing national cultural dimensions. These Website sectors may 

include but not limited to college/university Websites, news/media Websites, 

entertainment Websites, sports Websites, postal office Websites, museum Websites, 

and so on. In this way, a new framework for evaluating culture dimensions on Web 

interface design will be established. 

As indicated in this research, a country’s technology level may influence the 

examination of its Web representation of national political freedom. A country’s 

technology level, therefore, should be considered as a covariate in the future studies of 

Website examinations. Further research may also concentrate on investigating the 

correlation of a country's technology level with its freedom level represented on Web 

interface design. 
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In the pilot study, the nature of the institutions was not considered as a variable. 

The sample Websites include both private and public institutions.  It would be interesting 

to find any variations on the indicator values between these two different institutional 

types in the future study and to investigate if there is any institution type and Web 

representation of freedom level interaction. 

The validated freedom indicators might also be used to investigate the impact of 

localization on Web interface design in representing political freedom by comparing 

organizations' local Websites targeting their national audience with their mirror Websites 

designed for their international audience. It is necessary to find out if localization has 

played a role on Web interface design in representing cultural dimensions. 

 Throughout the research, two coders manually conducted the coding process. 

Automated search tools will help to speed this content analysis process. Computer 

programs need to be developed to automatically search designated Websites and to 

locate cultural indicators on the Web. They may also be used to facilitate coding 

analysis, although photo analysis has to be accomplished manually at this stage. 

 Furthermore, a longitudinal study of the impact of technology on Web 

representation of freedom may also be conducted. It would be interesting to find out 

whether a country's Websites will maintain its cultural elements at the same level after 5 

or 10 years of technology advancement and the diffusion of innovation. 

  

Implication of the Research 
 

First, based on Hofstede's cultural dimension theory and Marcus' extension of 

these cultural dimensions into Web interface design, this research provides an 
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instrument in measuring a nation's political freedom on Web interface design. As this 

study has statistically validated six power distance indicators, together with the seventh 

indicator, symmetric layout, these indicators may be used as a set of measurements in 

the study of national culture and in measuring a nation's political freedom level. In this 

way, national freedom can be measured not only by the traditional methods of surveys, 

case studies, questionnaires, interviews and observations, but also through the study of 

Web interface design. As a result, sociologists, social scientists, and culture researchers 

who study national political freedom system will have another measuring device for their 

research. Therefore, this research has extended culture study into the field of human-

computer interaction and user interface design.  

Second, this research has provided some basic culture elements for designing, 

interpreting, and managing Websites. Marketers and Web designers may use these 

culture elements to promote global communication in their localization approach. As an 

increased number of organizations are interested in building their Websites for an 

international audience, it has become vital to develop culturally adapted Websites for 

their international viewers. As this research has confirmed seven power distance 

indicators in representing national political freedom on Web interface design, Web 

designers will be able to consider these indicators in designing culturally adapted local 

Websites for international users. In countries where cultures are dominated by high 

power distance, customers are used to the hierarchical form of communication and 

always look for authoritative indicators on Web pages to confirm the Website's 

legitimacy. It would be recommended that authority figures or role models be displayed 

visually on the Websites built for not-free-country group. It is equally important to 
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establish Web links for the high authorities and display these links as the first group on 

the navigation bar. These are the essential elements for building commercial Websites 

for companies in high power distance countries, since customers in those countries 

seek these indicators to boost their confidence before ordering merchandise online. 

Therefore, applying or excluding these specific freedom indicators according to a 

country's freedom level will enhance Websites' comprehensibility, usability, and 

interactivity, which will increase company's competitive advantages in this global market. 

Overall, culturally adapted Websites will result in more business activity and productivity. 

Web designers may also avoid cultural taboos when designing Websites for a specific 

country. 

In addition, as an exploratory study, this research provides a cultural validating 

framework. It is the first attempt to validate on Web interface design the cultural 

variables found through the traditional means of surveys and questionnaires. As power 

distance is one of the five cultural dimensions stated in Hofstede’s cultural model, this 

research method and the construction of the coding sheet will stand as an example for 

future studies to substantiate other cultural variables articulated in Hofstede's cultural 

dimensions and in other cross-cultural theories. Since this research has validated 

cultural variables on an interval scale, it will serve as a starting point for future studies in 

the area of cultural analysis for Web interface design. 

Furthermore, the results of this study show clear evidence that future research in 

national freedom and democracy should focus on the study of government-based 

Websites. This research compared government-based Websites with business-oriented 

Websites regarding to their differences in Web representation of national political 
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freedom. The result shows that government-based Websites represent national political 

freedom better than business-oriented Websites do. As this study has provided us with 

a better understanding of government-based and business-oriented Websites based on 

the seven power distance indicators, Website designers may consider different Web 

design strategies for these two types of Websites according to the features stated. 

These validated indicators might be used to evaluate the efforts of localization made by 

countries and Websites. Current communication strategies should be evaluated and 

new strategies need to be developed to meet the new challenge.  

Finally, this study has confirmed that local Websites embed cultural values and 

they are culturally sensitive. This supports previous studies of Cyr and Trevor-Smith 

(2004), Singh, Kumar and Baack (2005), and Singh, Zhao and Hu (2003, 2005). In its 

own way, this study has provided a better understanding for those who study the 

essence of cross-cultural interface design. It certainly helps researchers gain insights 

into the cultural characteristics of a particular nation. Moreover, this Web analysis of 

national political freedom enables general Web users to understand cultures from the 

perspective of Web interface design. In this way, this study has increased Web users 

awareness of cultural elements represented on the Website and has advanced their 

understanding of cultures to a deeper level. 
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APPENDIX A 
 

FREEDOM IN THE WORLD: INDEPENDENT COUNTRIES 2007 
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FREE 
 
1.0
Andorra  
Australia 
Austria 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belgium 
Canada 
Cape Verde 
Chile 
Costa Rica 
Cyprus  
Czech Republic 
Denmark 
Dominica 
Estonia 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Hungary 
Iceland 
Ireland 
Italy 
Kiribati 
Latvia 
Liechtenstein 
Lithuania 
Luxembourg 
Malta 
Marshall Islands 
Micronesia 
Nauru 
Netherlands 
New Zealand 
Norway  
Palau 
Poland 
Portugal 
Saint Kitts and Nevis 
Saint Lucia 
San Marino 
Slovakia 
Slovenia 
Spain 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
Tuvalu 
United Kingdom 
United States  
Uruguay 
 
1.5 
Belize 
Bulgaria 
Ghana 

Greece 
Grenada 
Israel 
Japan 
Mauritius  
Monaco 
Panama 
St. Vincent and the

 Grenadines 
South Korea 
Taiwan 
 
2.0 
Antigua and Barbuda 
Argentina 
Benin 
Botswana 
Brazil 
Croatia 
Dominican Republic 
Mali 
Mongolia 
Namibia 
Romania 
Samoa 
Sao Tome and Principe 
South Africa 
Suriname  
Trinidad and Tobago 
Vanuatu 
 
2.5
El Salvador  
Guyana 
India 
Indonesia 
Jamaica 
Lesotho  
Mexico 
Peru 
Senegal 
Serbia  
Ukraine 
 
PARTLY FREE 
 
3.0
Albania 
Bolivia  
Bosnia-Herzegovina 
Colombia 
Ecuador 
Georgia 
Honduras 
Kenya 
Macedonia 
Montenegro 

Nicaragua 
Niger 
Papua New Guinea 
Paraguay 
Philippines  
Seychelles 
Turkey 
 
3.5
Comoros 
East Timor  
Guatemala  
Liberia 
Madagascar  
Malawi 
Moldova 
Mozambique 
Sierra Leone  
Solomon Islands 
Tanzania  
Zambia 
 
4.0
Bangladesh 
Burkina Faso 
Guinea-Bissau  
Kuwait 
Malaysia 
Nigeria  
Sri Lanka 
Tonga 
Venezuela 
 
4.5
Armenia  
Burundi 
Central African Republic 
Gambia 
Haiti 
Jordan 
Kyrgyzstan 
Lebanon 
Mauritania 
Morocco  
Nepal 
Singapore 
Uganda 
 
5.0
Afghanistan 
Bahrain 
Djibouti  
Ethiopia  
Fiji 
Gabon 
Yemen 

 

NOT FREE 
 
5.5
Algeria 
Angola 
Azerbaijan 
Bhutan 
Brunei 
Cambodia 
Congo (Brazzaville) 
Congo (Kinshasa) 
Egypt  
Guinea 
Kazakhstan 
Maldives 
Oman 
Pakistan 
Quatar 
Russia 
Rwanda  
Tajikistan  
Thailand 
Togo 
Tunisia 
United Arab Emirates 
 
6.0
Cameroon 
Chad 
Iran  
Iraq 
Swaziland 
Vietnam 
 
6.5
Belarus 
China 
Cote d'Ivoire 
Equatorial Guinea 
Eritrea 
Laos 
Saudi Arabia 
Syria 
Zimbabwe 
 
7.0
Burma 
Cuba 
Libya 
North Korea 
Somalia 
Sudan 
Turkmenistan 
Uzbekistan 

_______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
From Combined Average Ratings: Independent Countries 2007, by Freedom House, 2007, Retrieved January 14, 2008, from: 
http://www.freedomhouse.org/template.cfm?page=366&year=2007. Used with permission from Freedom House, Inc. © 2007. 
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APPENDIX B 
 

COUNTRY LIST FOR PRINCIPAL RESEARCH 
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Three countries are selected for each of the 13 freedom levels. Four government-based 
Websites and four business-oriented Websites are selected for each country. 
  
Free-country Group   
Level 1.0  5 Malaysia 
Range: From 1 to 49 -- Sorted  9 Venezuela 
7 Canada  
18 Germany  Level 4.5 
27 Luxembourg  Range: From 1 to 13 -- Sorted 
   6 Jordan 
Level 1.5  7 Kyrgyzstan 
Range: From 1 to 13 -- Sorted  10 Morocco 
8 Mauritius   

12 South Korea  Level 5.0 
13 Taiwan  Range: From 1 to 7 -- Sorted 
   1 Afghanistan 
Level 2.0  4 Ethiopia 
Range: From 1 to 17 -- Sorted  6 Gabon 
7 Dominican Republic    

9 Mongolia  Not-free-country Group 
16 Trinidad and Tobago  Level 5.5 
   Range: From 1 to 22 -- Sorted 
Level 2.5  4 Bhutan 
Range: From 1 to 11 -- Sorted  19 Thailand 
4 Indonesia  22 United Arab Emirates 

7 Mexico   
11 Ukraine  Level 6.0 
   Range: From 1 to 6 -- Sorted 
Partly-free-country Group  1  Cameroon 
Level 3.0 3 Iran 
Range: From 1 to 17 -- Sorted  5 Swaziland 

1 Albania   
10 Montenegro  Level 6.5 

14 Paraguay  Range: From 1 to 9 -- Sorted 
    4 Equatorial Guinea 
Level 3.5  7 Saudi Arabia 
Range: From 1 to 12 -- Sorted  9 Zimbabwe 
4 Liberia   
6 Malawi  Level 7.0 

10 Solomon Islands  Range: From 1 to 8 -- Sorted 
   6 Sudan 
Level 4.0  7 Turkmenistan 
Range: From 1 to 9 – Sorted  8 Uzbekistan 
1 Bangladesh 
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APPENDIX C 
 

WEBSITE LIST FOR PRINCIPAL RESEARCH 
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Three countries are selected from each of the 13 freedom levels. Four government-
based Websites and four business-oriented Websites are selected from each country. 
There are total of 312 Websites. 
 
Level 1.0  
 
Canada 
Parliament of Canada    http://www.parl.gc.ca/  
Government of Quebec     http://www.gouv.qc.ca/  
Government of Canada    http://www.canada.gc.ca/  
Department of Foreign Affairs   http://www.dfait-maeci.gc.ca/index.aspx
Royal Bank of Canada (Banking)   http://www.rbc.com/
Manulife Financial of Canada (Insurance) http://www.manulife.com
Encana of Canada (Oil and Gas)   http://www.encana.com/
Alcan Inc of Canada (Materials)   http://www.alcan.com/
 
Germany 
German Bundestag Parliament   http://www.bundestag.de/  
Baden-Wurttemberg State    http://www.baden-wuerttemberg.de/
German Fed. Gov.      http://www.bundesregierung.de/  
Ministry of Foreign Affairs    http://www.auswaertiges-amt.de/  
Allianz Insurance of Germany       http://www.allianz.com/en/index.html
Deutsche Bank    http://www.deutsche-bank.de/index.htm
Eon Utilities of Germany     http://www.eon.com/
DaimlerChrysler of Germany     http://www.daimlerchrysler.com/
 
Luxembourg 
Le Gov. du Grand-Duche de Luxembourg  http://www.statec.public.lu/  
Ville de Diekirch of Luembourg    http://www.diekirch.lu/
Chambre des Deputes     http://www.chd.lu/default.jsp
Central Service for Statistics    http://www.statec.public.lu/fr/index.html
Arcelor (Materials) of Luembourg    http://www.arcelormittal.com/
SES Global (Media) of Luembourg   http://www.ses.com/ses/index.php
Tenaris (Oil & gas Operations) of Luembourg    http://www.tenaris.com/  
Espirito Santo Financial of Luembourg   http://www.esfg.com/
 
Level 1.5 
 
Mauritius 
Government of Mauritius     http://www.gov.mu/
Municipal council of Port Louis of Mauritius http://mpl.intnet.mu/home.htm
Ministry of Foreign Affairs    http://www.gov.mu/portal/site/mfasite
National Assembly    http://www.gov.mu/portal/site/AssemblySite
Mauritius Telecom    http://www.mauritiustelecom.com/atHome.php
Harel Mallac Group of Mauritius  http://www.harelmallac.com/hm_i_group.htm
Mauritius Broadcasting Co.  http://www.mbcradio.tv/
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http://www.parl.gc.ca/common/index.asp?Language=E
http://www.gouv.qc.ca/portail/quebec/pgs?lang=en
http://www.canada.gc.ca/main_e.html
http://www.dfait-maeci.gc.ca/index.aspx
http://www.rbc.com/
http://www.manulife.com/
http://www.encana.com/
http://www.alcan.com/
http://www.bundestag.de/htdocs_e/parliament/index.html
http://www.baden-wuerttemberg.de/
http://www.bundesregierung.de/Webs/Breg/DE/Homepage/home.html
http://www.auswaertiges-amt.de/diplo/en/Startseite.html
http://www.allianz.com/en/index.html
http://www.deutsche-bank.de/index.htm
http://www.eon.com/
http://www.daimlerchrysler.com/
http://www.statec.public.lu/fr/functions/advsearch/index.php
http://www.diekirch.lu/
http://www.chd.lu/default.jsp
http://www.statec.public.lu/fr/index.html
http://www.arcelormittal.com/
http://www.ses.com/ses/index.php
http://www.tenaris.com/en/default.asp
http://www.esfg.com/
http://www.gov.mu/
http://mpl.intnet.mu/home.htm
http://www.gov.mu/portal/site/mfasite
http://www.gov.mu/portal/site/AssemblySite
http://www.mauritiustelecom.com/atHome.php
http://www.harelmallac.com/hm_i_group.htm
http://www.mbcradio.tv/


 

Mauritius Central Bank   http://www.mcb.mu/home/index_mcbnew.html
 
South Korea 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs of South Korea http://www.mofat.go.kr/index.html
National Intelligence Office   http://eng.nis.go.kr/app/main/index
Seoul Metropolitan Government    http://www.seoul.go.kr/?lang=ko
GyeongGi Government   http://portal.gg.go.kr/portal/site/gg/
Korea Kumho Petrochemical Co    http://www.kkpc.co.kr/kor/index.asp
Korea Electric Power of South Korea http://www.kepco.co.kr/
Posco (Materials)     http://www.posco.co.kr/  
Hyundai of South Korea   http://www.hyundai-motor.com/index.html
 
Taiwan 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Taiwan http://www.mofa.gov.tw/Webapp/mp?mp=1
Taipei City Government   http://www.taipei.gov.tw/
Taiwan Government Information Office   http://www.gio.gov.tw/
Council of Agriculture   http://www.coa.gov.tw/show_index.php
Cathay Financial of Taiwan http://www.cathayholdings.com.tw/gb/index.htm
Hong Hai Precision of Taiwan  http://www.foxconn.com/
Formosa Petrochemical Co. of Taiwan   http://www.fpcc.com.tw/
Taiwan Semiconductor   http://www.tsmc.com/  
 
Level 2.0 
 
Dominican Republic 
Dominican Republic Official Website  http://www.presidencia.gob.do/app/frontpage.aspx
Ministry of Tourism    http://www.godominicanrepublic.com/index.asp
Dominican Republic Embassy in UK  http://www.dominicanembassy.org.uk/
Dominican Republic Embassy in Canada http://www.drembassy.org/  
Central Bank      http://www.bancentral.gov.do/index.asp
LACNIC of Dominican Republic   http://www.lacnic.org/sp/index.html
Networks Information Center   http://www.nic.do/  
Air Century of Dominican Republic http://www.aircentury.com/espanol/index.htm
 
Mongolia 
Department of Foreign Affairs of Mongolia http://www.mfa.gov.mn/
National Chamber of Commerce  http://www.mongolchamber.mn/index.php
National Statistics Office of Mongolia    http://www.nso.mn/v1/index.php
Permanent Mission to UN of Mongolia  http://www.un.int/mongolia/
Trade and Development Bank of Mongolia http://www.tdbm.mn/main.php
Eznis Airways of Mongolia    http://www.eznis.com/
NewCom IIC of Mongolia   http://www.newcom.mn/?menu_slug=about-us
Mongolian Airlines     http://www.miat.com/
 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Parliament of Trinidad and Tobago  http://www.ttparliament.org/
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http://www.mcb.mu/home/index_mcbnew.html
http://www.mofat.go.kr/index.html
http://eng.nis.go.kr/app/main/index
http://www.seoul.go.kr/?lang=ko
http://portal.gg.go.kr/portal/site/gg/
http://www.kkpc.co.kr/kor/index.asp
http://www.kepco.co.kr/
http://www.posco.co.kr/homepage/docs/en/s91a0010001i.jsp
http://www.hyundai-motor.com/index.html
http://www.mofa.gov.tw/webapp/mp?mp=1
http://www.taipei.gov.tw/
http://www.gio.gov.tw/
http://www.coa.gov.tw/show_index.php
http://www.cathayholdings.com.tw/gb/index.htm
http://www.foxconn.com/
http://www.fpcc.com.tw/
http://www.tsmc.com/schinese/default.htm
http://www.presidencia.gob.do/app/frontpage.aspx
http://www.godominicanrepublic.com/index.asp
http://www.dominicanembassy.org.uk/
http://www.drembassy.org/english/
http://www.bancentral.gov.do/index.asp
http://www.lacnic.org/sp/index.html
http://www.nic.do/ingles/
http://www.aircentury.com/espanol/index.htm
http://www.mfa.gov.mn/
http://www.mongolchamber.mn/index.php
http://www.nso.mn/v1/index.php
http://www.un.int/mongolia/
http://www.tdbm.mn/main.php
http://www.eznis.com/
http://www.newcom.mn/?menu_slug=about-us
http://www.miat.com/
http://www.ttparliament.org/


 

Government of Trinidad and Tobago http://www.gov.tt/Egov/Portal/default.aspx
Ministry of Industry     http://www.energy.gov.tt/
High Commission of T&T in Canada  http://www.ttmissions.com/
Central Bank of Trinidad    http://www.central-bank.org.tt/
Rotoplastics of Trinidad and Tobago  http://www.rotoplastics.co.tt/
Peake Air Conditioning of Trinidad  http://www.peakeind.com/home.htm
Barbados Shipping & Trading of Trinidad http://www.bsandtco.com/home.cfm
 
Level 2.5 
 
Indonesia 
Department of Foreign Affairs of Indonesia http://www.deplu.go.id/?
Ministry of Culture and Tourism of Indonesia   http://my-indonesia.info/indexpromo.php
Embassy to US of Indonesia   http://www.embassyofindonesia.org/
Jakarta Province of Indonesia  http://www.jakarta.go.id/v22/home/index.php
PT Medco Energy of Indonesia   http://www.medcoenergi.com/
Telkom Indonesia (telecommunication) http://www.telkom.co.id/index.html?lid=id
Bank Central Asia of Indonesia  http://www.klikbca.com/
Schneider Electric of Indonesia  http://www.schneider-electric.co.id/
 
Mexico 
State Gov. of Baja California http://www.bajacalifornia.gob.mx/portal/home.jsp
Mexican Embassy to USA   http://portal.sre.gob.mx/usa/
Ministry of Foreign Affairs   http://www.sre.gob.mx/  
Gobierno del Estado State Gov.  http://www.aguascalientes.gob.mx/  
America Movil (telecommunication) http://www.americamovil.com/index.htm
Cemex (construction) of Mexico  http://www.cemex.com/
Femsa (food) of Mexico   http://www.femsa.com/
Grupo Mexico (materials)   http://www.gmexico.com
 
Ukraine 
Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine  http://www.kmu.gov.ua/control/en
Parliament of Ukraine   http://portal.rada.gov.ua/control/en/index
Odessa City of Ukraine   http://www.odessa.ua/?lang=en
Ministry of Foreign Affairs   http://www.mfa.gov.ua/mfa/en/news/top.htm
Capital Trust Securities of Ukraine http://www.ctrust.com.ua/
NaftoGaz of Ukraine   http://www.naftogaz.com/  
Ukrsibbank of Ukraine   http://www.ukrsibbank.com/
Imepower Investment Group  http://www.imepower.com/
 
Partly-free-country Group 
 
Level 3.0 
 
Albania 
Parliament of Albania    http://www.parlament.al/
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http://www.gov.tt/Egov/Portal/default.aspx
http://www.energy.gov.tt/
http://www.ttmissions.com/
http://www.central-bank.org.tt/
http://www.rotoplastics.co.tt/
http://www.peakeind.com/home.htm
http://www.bsandtco.com/home.cfm
http://www.deplu.go.id/?
http://my-indonesia.info/indexpromo.php
http://www.embassyofindonesia.org/
http://www.jakarta.go.id/v22/home/index.php
http://www.medcoenergi.com/
http://www.telkom.co.id/index.html?lid=id
http://www.klikbca.com/
http://www.schneider-electric.co.id/
http://www.bajacalifornia.gob.mx/portal/home.jsp
http://portal.sre.gob.mx/usa/
http://www.sre.gob.mx/english/
http://www.aguascalientes.gob.mx/idiomas/ingles/
http://www.americamovil.com/index.htm
http://www.cemex.com/
http://www.femsa.com/
http://www.gmexico.com/
http://www.kmu.gov.ua/control/en
http://portal.rada.gov.ua/control/en/index
http://www.odessa.ua/?lang=en
http://www.mfa.gov.ua/mfa/en/news/top.htm
http://www.ctrust.com.ua/
http://www.naftogaz.com/www/2/nakweben.nsf/
http://www.ukrsibbank.com/
http://www.imepower.com/
http://www.parlament.al/


 

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Albania  http://www.mfa.gov.al/
Municipality of Vlora of Albania   http://www.bashkiavlore.org/
Institute of Statistics     http://www.instat.gov.al/
Albanian Power Corporation   http://www.kesh.com.al/
Albanian Business Communication  http://www.abcom.al/
Albcomport of Albania    http://www.albcomport.com/
ProCredit Bank of Albania    http://www.procreditbank.com.al/
 
Montenegro 
Republic of Montenegro   http://www.montenegro.yu/index.htm
Niskic Municipal site of Montenegro  http://www.niksic.cg.yu/
Government of Montegegro   http://www.gom.cg.yu/
Ministry of Foreign Affairs    http://www.mip.vlada.cg.yu/
Termoelektro-Mont      http://www.termoelektro-mont.com/
Promonte of Montenegro    http://www.promonte.com/
Lovcen Insurance Sh.C. Podgorica  http://www.lo.cg.yu/eng/company.php
Adriatic Shipyard Bijela     http://www.asybijela.com/
 
Paraguay 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Paraguay  http://www.mre.gov.py/
Chamber of Deputies of Paraguay  http://www.camdip.gov.py/
National Secretariat of Tourism   http://www.senatur.gov.py/
Paraguay Embassy to US    http://www.embaparusa.gov.py/
Krauch of Paraguay     http://www.krauch.com.py/index.html
TransGlobal of Paraguay  http://www.transglobalparaguay.com/index.html
Itaipu Power Plant     http://www.itaipu.gov.br/
Gandys S.R.L. of Paraguay   http://www.gandys.com.py/
 
Level 3.5 
 
Liberia 
Ministry of Information of Liberia   http://www.micat.gov.lr/
Embassy of Liberia in Washington D.C.   http://www.embassyofliberia.org/
Executive Mansion of Liberia   http://www.emansion.gov.lr/
Ministry of Finance of Liberia   http://www.mofliberia.org/
Central Bank of Liberia    http://www.cbl.org.lr/
Firestone Natural Rubber Company  http://www.firestonenaturalrubber.com/
First Cleaning LTD of Liberia   http://www.1stliberia.com/
ADS Ground Handling    http://www.adsgroundhandling.com/
 
Malawi 
Government of Malawi   http://www.malawi.gov.mw/
Ministry of Finance of Malawi  http://www.finance.gov.mw/
National Audit Office of Malawi    http://www.nao.mw/
National Statistical Office of Malawi   http://www.nso.malawi.net/
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http://www.mfa.gov.al/
http://www.bashkiavlore.org/
http://www.instat.gov.al/
http://www.kesh.com.al/
http://www.abcom.al/
http://www.albcomport.com/
http://www.procreditbank.com.al/
http://www.montenegro.yu/index.htm
http://www.niksic.cg.yu/
http://www.gom.cg.yu/
http://www.mip.vlada.cg.yu/
http://www.termoelektro-mont.com/
http://www.promonte.com/
http://www.lo.cg.yu/eng/company.php
http://www.asybijela.com/
http://www.mre.gov.py/
http://www.camdip.gov.py/
http://www.senatur.gov.py/
http://www.embaparusa.gov.py/
http://www.krauch.com.py/index.html
http://www.transglobalparaguay.com/index_en.html
http://www.itaipu.gov.br/
http://www.gandys.com.py/
http://www.micat.gov.lr/
http://www.embassyofliberia.org/
http://www.emansion.gov.lr/
http://www.mofliberia.org/
http://www.cbl.org.lr/
http://www.firestonenaturalrubber.com/
http://www.1stliberia.com/
http://www.adsgroundhandling.com/
http://www.malawi.gov.mw/
http://www.finance.gov.mw/
http://www.nao.mw/
http://www.nso.malawi.net/


 

Malawi Net     http://www.malawi.net/
Loita Capital Partners Int. of Malawi http://www.loita.com/
Clear Channel of Malawi http://www.corpcom-outdoor.com/flash%20sites/default.html
Skyband Corp. Limited of Malawi  http://www.africa-online.net/
 
Solomon Islands  
National Parliament of Solomon    http://www.parliament.gov.sb/
Dept of Commerce of Solomon  http://www.commerce.gov.sb/
Solomon Islands Embassy in Taiwan http://www.solomons.org.tw/english/news_list.php
Solomon Islands Visitor's Bureau  http://www.visitsolomons.com.sb/
Solomon Telecom    http://www.solomon.com.sb/
Technisyst of Solomon     http://www.technisyst.com.sb/
Solomon Breweries    http://beerme.com/region.php?c=bp
Crystal Arts and Crafts   http://www.china-crystals.com/
 
Level 4.0 
 
Bangladesh 
Law Commission of Bangladesh http://www.lawcommissionbangladesh.org/index.htm
Dhaka City of Bangladesh   http://www.dhakacity.org/
Security and Exchange Commission Bangladesh http://www.secbd.org/
Bangladesh Embassy in US    http://www.bangladoot.org/
Grameenphone of Bangladesh   http://www.grameenphone.com/
Prantik Travels and Tourism   http://www.prantik-travels.com/
Bombay Sweets of Bangladesh   http://www.bombaysweetsbd.com/
Concord Group     http://www.concordgroup.net/home.html
 
Malaysia 
Malaysia Government Portal  http://www.gov.my/MyGov/BI/Directory/Citizen/
Malaysia Dept of Statistics    http://www.statistics.gov.my/
Parliament of Malaysia    http://www.parlimen.gov.my/
Melaka State Official Website    http://www.melaka.gov.my/
Tenaga Nasional BH    http://www.tnb.com.my/tnb/index.php
Telecom Malaysia     http://www.tm.com.my/
MISC Transportation of Malaysia   http://www.misc.com.my/
Genting Group of Malaysia    http://www.genting.com/
 
 
Venezuela 
Venezuela Government    http://www.gobiernoenlinea.ve/
Venezuela Embassy in Washington DC.  http://www.embavenez-us.org/
National Institute of Statistics   http://www.ine.gov.ve/
Ministry of Tourism     http://www.mintur.gob.ve/portal/
Cisneros of Venezuela    http://www.cisneros.com/Inicio
SolTuCa of Venezuela    http://www.soltuca.com/index.html
Conapri of Venezuela    http://www.conapri.org/index.asp
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http://www.malawi.net/
http://www.loita.com/
http://www.corpcom-outdoor.com/flash%20sites/default.html
http://www.africa-online.net/
http://www.parliament.gov.sb/
http://www.commerce.gov.sb/
http://www.solomons.org.tw/english/news_list.php
http://www.visitsolomons.com.sb/
http://www.solomon.com.sb/
http://www.technisyst.com.sb/
http://beerme.com/region.php?c=bp
http://www.china-crystals.com/
http://www.lawcommissionbangladesh.org/index.htm
http://www.dhakacity.org/
http://www.secbd.org/
http://www.bangladoot.org/
http://www.grameenphone.com/
http://www.prantik-travels.com/
http://www.bombaysweetsbd.com/
http://www.concordgroup.net/home.html
http://www.gov.my/MyGov/BI/Directory/Citizen/
http://www.statistics.gov.my/
http://www.parlimen.gov.my/
http://www.melaka.gov.my/
http://www.tnb.com.my/tnb/index.php
http://www.tm.com.my/
http://www.misc.com.my/
http://www.genting.com/
http://www.gobiernoenlinea.ve/
http://www.embavenez-us.org/
http://www.ine.gov.ve/
http://www.mintur.gob.ve/portal/
http://www.cisneros.com/Inicio
http://www.soltuca.com/index.html
http://www.conapri.org/index.asp


 

Edifica of Venezuela    http://www.edifica.com/index.html
 
Level 4.5 
 
Jordan 
Jordan Ministry of Foreign Affairs   http://www.mfa.gov.jo/
National Resource Authority of Jordan  http://www.nra.gov.jo/
Embassy of Jordan  http://www.jordanembassyus.org/new/embassies.shtml
Prime Ministry of Jordan      http://www.pm.gov.jo/arabic/
Zara Investment Jordan    http://www.zaraholding.com/
Kawar Group of Jordan    http://www.kawar.com/
Kurdi Group of Jordan   http://www.kurdigroup.jo/site/default.aspx
Middle East Insurance Co.    http://www.meico.com.jo/

 
Kyrgyzstan 
Embassy of Kyrgyzstan to US   http://www.kgembassy.org/
Ministry of Finance     http://www.minfin.kg/
Republic of Kyrgyzstan    http://www.gov.kg/  
State Patent Service of Kyrgyzstan  http://www.kyrgyzpatent.kg/
Manas Management Company   http://www.mmc.kg/
BAISAL      http://www.baisal.elcat.kg
Asia Universal Bank     http://www.aub.kg/
Panalpina      http://www.panalpina.com/www/global/  
 
Morocco 
Morocco National Government Portal  http://www.maroc.ma/PortailInst/Fr/accueil
Ministry of Energy     http://www.mem.gov.ma/
Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Morocco  http://www.maec.gov.ma/
Morocco Consulate in NY    http://www.moroccanconsulate.com/
LGMC Industries of Morocco   http://www.lgmcindustries.com/
Alcatel-Lucent of Morocco    http://www.alcatel-lucent.com/  
Central company of ReInsurance   http://www.scrmaroc.com/  
CapMaroc      http://www.capmaroc.com/
 
Level 5.0 
 
Afghanistan 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Afghanistan http://mfa.gov.af/
Office of the President of Afghanistan http://www.president.gov.af/pashto-dari/
Ministry of Commerce of Afghanistan  http://www.commerce.gov.af/
Embassy of Afghanistan in Washington  http://www.embassyofafghanistan.org/
Roshan      http://www.roshan.af/Web/
Afghan Wireless     http://www.afghan-wireless.com/
Paiwastoon Networks http://www.paiwastoon.com.af/mainpages-pa/index.html
AIT       http://www.ait-logistics.com/index.php
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http://www.edifica.com/index.html
http://www.mfa.gov.jo/
http://www.nra.gov.jo/
http://www.jordanembassyus.org/new/embassies.shtml
http://www.pm.gov.jo/arabic/
http://www.zaraholding.com/
http://www.kawar.com/
http://www.kurdigroup.jo/site/default.aspx
http://www.meico.com.jo/
http://www.kgembassy.org/
http://www.minfin.kg/
http://www.gov.kg/index.php?newlang=eng
http://www.kyrgyzpatent.kg/
http://www.mmc.kg/
http://www.baisal.elcat.kg/engindex.htm
http://www.aub.kg/
http://www.panalpina.com/www/global/en/about/history.html
http://www.maroc.ma/PortailInst/Fr/accueil
http://www.mem.gov.ma/
http://www.maec.gov.ma/
http://www.moroccanconsulate.com/
http://www.lgmcindustries.com/
http://www.alcatel-lucent.com/wps/portal
http://www.scrmaroc.com/eng/default1.html
http://www.capmaroc.com/
http://mfa.gov.af/
http://www.president.gov.af/pashto-dari/
http://www.commerce.gov.af/
http://www.embassyofafghanistan.org/
http://www.roshan.af/web/
http://www.afghan-wireless.com/
http://www.paiwastoon.com.af/mainpages-pa/index.html
http://www.ait-logistics.com/index.php


 

Ethiopia 
The Parliament of Ethiopia    http://www.ethiopar.net/
Embassy of Ethiopia in Washington http://www.ethiopianembassy.org/index.shtml
Ministry of Foreign Affairs Ethiopia  http://www.mfa.gov.et/
Addis Ababa City Official Website   http://www.addisababacity.gov.et/
Ethiopian Tourist Trading Enterprise  http://www.ethiomarket.com/ette1/mainmenu.html
OCFA Metal Manufacturing Ethiopia    http://www.ocfamanufacturing.com/
National Consultants    http://national-consultants.com/
Ethiopian Telecommunications Corp.  http://www.ethionet.et/
 
Gabon 
Le Gabon Official Website    http://www.legabon.org/home.php
National Assembly of Gabon   http://www.assemblee.ga/
Sec. General of Ministry Council http://www.finances.gouv.ga/sgcm/gouvernement.htm
Senate of Gabon     http://www.senatgabon.net/
Ecotourisme-Gabon     http://ecotourisme-gabon.com/mistral/
Goban Development Bank    http://www.bgd-gabon.com/
BICP of Goban  http://www.capdeveloppement.com/capdeveloppement/
Atlantique Hotel    http://hotelatlantique.com/homepage.htm
 
Not-free-country Group 
 
Level 5.5 
 
Bhutan 
Government of Bhutan  http://www.bhutan.gov.bt/government/index.php
Ministry of Education of Bhutan   http://www.education.gov.bh/
National Assembly of Bhutan   http://www.nab.gov.bt/
Dept of Information Technology Bhutan  http://www.dit.gov.bt/
Arig Insurance Company of Bahrain  http://www.arig.com.bh/
Zayani Computer Systems of Bahrain    http://www.zayani.com/
Anis Communication of Bahrain   http://www.arabian.net/
Yu-Druk Tours and Travels   http://www.yudruk.com/
 
Thailand 
Royal Thai Government    http://www.thaigov.go.th/eng/index.aspx
Bangkok Administration    http://city.bangkok.go.th/th/
Tai Paliament     http://www.parliament.go.th/
Ministry of Foreign Affairs    http://www.mfa.go.th/Web/2630.php
Stock Exchange of Thailand   http://www.set.or.th/th/index.html
Siam Cement Group    http://www.siamcement.com/
Thai Oil      http://www.thaioil.co.th/index.php
IRPC Public Company Limited     http://www.irpc.co.th/
 
United Arab Emirates 
United Arab Federal National Council    http://www.almajles.gov.ae/
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Sharjah Chamber of Commerce     http://www.sharjah.gov.ae/
United Arab Emirates Embassy to US  http://uae-embassy.org/
Ministry of Health     http://www.moh.gov.ae/
Etisalat Communication Service   http://www.etisalat.ae/
Al-Futtaim Real Estate    http://www.al-futtaim.com/
Bin Dasmal Group     http://www.bindasmal.com/
Alhosani Computer     http://www.software-planet.com/
 
Level 6.0 
 
Cameroon 
National Assembly of Cameroon   http://www.cm.refer.org/assnat-cm/
Republic of Cameroon    http://www.prc.cm/indexen.php
Embassy of Cameroon to US   http://www.ambacam-usa.org/main.htm
Cameroon Embassy to the Netherlands   http://www.cameroon-embassy.nl/
MS IT Solutions of Camerron   http://www.msitsolutions.net/
Padouk Design     http://www.padoukdesign.com/
Standard Chartered of Cameroon   http://www.standardchartered.com/cm/
Cameroonian Association of Engineers  http://www.vkii.org/
 
Iran 
Chamber of Commerce of Iran   http://www.iccim.org/
Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Iran   http://www.mfa.gov.ir/
Custom Administration of Iran   http://www.irica.gov.ir/  
Embassy of Iran to US    http://www.daftar.org/
Heavy Equip. Production of Iran   http://www.hepcoir.com
Iran Khodro      http://www.ikco.com/default.aspx
SAIPA of Iran     http://www.saipacorp.com/
Maadiran of Iran     http://www.maadiran.com/
 
Swaziland 
Kingdom of Swaziland    http://www.gov.sz/
Swaziland Central Statistical Office    http://www.gov.sz/home.asp?pid=75
Swaziland Embassy to US    http://mbabane.usembassy.gov/
Swaziland Investment Promotion Authority http://www.sipa.org.sz/
Coral Stephens Handweaving of Swaziland http://www.coralstephens.com/
SIDC of Swaziland     http://www.sidc.co.sz/
Aerosite  http://www.aerosite.net/component/option,com_frontpage/Itemid,1/
Swaziland Posts & Telecommunication Corp. http://www.sptc.co.sz/
 
Level 6.5 
 
Equatorial Guinea 
Institutional Website     http://www.ceiba-guinea-ecuatorial.org/  
Ministry of Mines and Energy of Equatorial Guinea http://www.equatorialoil.com/
City Council of Malabo     http://www.ayuntamientodemalabo.com/  
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Consulate of Equatorial Guinea in Romania http://www.ecaligiuri.com/  
Comalco of Equatorial Guinea   http://www.comalco.com/
Alcan of Equatorial Guinea    http://www.alcan.com/
Sem Afo of Equatorial Guinea http://www.semafo.com/home_company_intro.php
CGAP  of Equatorial Guinea   http://www.cgap.org/portal/site/cgap/
 
Saudi Arabia 
Ministry of Education  http://www.moe.gov.sa/openshare/moe/default.aspx
Saudi Ports Authority   http://www.ports.gov.sa/arabic/default.cfm
Royal Embassy of Saudi Arabia in Washington D.C. http://www.saudiembassy.net/
Ministry of Foreign Affairs    http://www.mofa.gov.sa/  
Saudi Aramco   http://www.saudiaramco.com/irj/portal/anonymous
SABIC of Saudi Arabia   http://www.sabic.com/corporate/ar/default.aspx
ATABSAT of Saudi Arabia   http://www.arabsat.com
Saudi Net     http://www.saudi.net.sa/html/www.php
 
Zimbabwe 
Zimbabwe Government     http://www.zim.gov.zw/
Zimbabwe Parliament     http://www.parlzim.gov.zw/
Zimbabwe Ministry of Foreign Affairs   http://www.zimfa.gov.zw/
Zimbabwe Embassy in Canada  http://www.zimbabweembassy.ca/index2.asp
Icon MWEB Internet Service of Zimbabwe  http://www.mWeb.com/
The Cotton Company of Zimbabwe  http://www.thecottoncompany.com/
Inter-Continental Leaf Tobacco Co. of Zimbabwe http://www.ilt.co.zw/
Telecel of Zimbabwe     http://www.telecel.co.zw/
 
Level 7.0 
 
Sudan 
Umma Party      http://www.umma.org/  
Communist Party of Sudan    http://www.midan.net/
Sudan Embassy in London    http://www.sudan-embassy.co.uk/
Sudan Embassy in Canada    http://www.sudanembassy.ca/
Central Trading Company of Sudan http://www.central-trading.com/index.htm
Alsunut      http://www.alsunut.com/
Patrodar of Sudan     http://www.petrodar.com/
Click Grafix of Sudan    http://www.click.sd/
 
Turkmenistan 
Information Site of Turkmenistan   http://turkmenistan.gov.tm/_en/
Turkmenistan Embassy in US   http://www.turkmenistanembassy.org/
State Tax Service of Turkmenistan  http://www.tax.gov.tm/  
The State of Environment  http://enrin.grida.no/htmls/turkmen/soe2/index.htm
Turkmen Carpets Online  http://www.turkmenistan-online.com/introduction.html
Ayan Travel of Turkmenistan  http://www.ayan-travel.com/tm_index.html
DN Tours of Turkmenistan   http://www.dntours.com/links.htm
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Stantours     http://www.stantours.com/tm_index.html
 
Uzbekistan 
Uzbekistan Government Portal   http://www.gov.uz/
Uzbekistan Embassy to US.   http://www.uzbekistan.org/
Press Service of the President of Uzbekistan http://www.press-service.uz/
Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Uzbekistan  http://mfa.uz/
 
Uzdunrobita Cellular of Uzbekistan  http://www.mts.uz/eng/abonents/news/
UBI Consulting of Uzbekistan   http://www.ubi.uz/
TS Technology of Uzbekistan   http://www.tstech.uz/
Visual Research Center of Uzbekistan  http://www.vrc.uz/
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Please examine each Webpage carefully and circle the correspondent "yes." 
  Present  ------> Not present

 4 3 2 1 0 
Symmetric layout (homepage only)  

The Webpage is 100% symmetric yes         
The Webpage is 75% symmetric   yes       
The Webpage is 50% symmetric     yes     
The Webpage is 25% symmetric       yes   

The Webpage is not symmetric         yes 

Special title conferred on members of the organization (religious or political title, such as 
Leader, Honorable)   

More than one occurrence on the homepage yes         
One occurrence on the homepage   yes       

More than one on the 2nd level Web page/pages   yes       
One on a 2nd level Webpage     yes     

More than one on the 3rd level Web page/pages     yes     
One on a 3rd level Webpage       yes   

             Not found          yes 
Monumental building  
        On the homepage           

Is the picture the focus? yes         
Is the building shown in the background?       yes   

       On a 2nd level Webpage           
Is the building the focus?   yes       

Is the building shown in the background?       yes   
       On a 3rd level Webpage           

Is the building the focus?     yes     
Is the building shown in the background?         yes 

       No monumental building found         yes 
Official stamp/logo  

On every Webpage yes         
On homepage and on the 2nd level Web pages only   yes       

On homepages only     yes     
On the 2nd and the 3rd level Web pages only       yes   

No official stamp/logo found         yes 
Authority figure  

More than one occurrence on the homepage yes         
One occurrence on the homepage   yes       

More than one on the 2nd level Web page/pages   yes       
One on a 2nd level Webpage     yes     

More than one on the 3rd level Web page/pages     yes     
One on a 3rd level Webpage       yes   

             No authority figures found          yes 
(table continues) 
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(continued) 
 Present  Not present 
 4 3 2 1 0 
Symbol of nationalism or religion  

More than one occurrence on the homepage yes         
One occurrence on the homepage   yes       

More than one on the 2nd level Web page/pages   yes       
One on a 2nd level Webpage     yes     

More than one on the 3rd level Web page/pages     yes     
One on a 3rd level Webpage       yes   

No symbols of nationalism/religion found         yes 
Link to information about the leaders  

the links are on homepage and other Web pages yes         
the link is on homepage only   yes       

the links are on 2nd and 3rd level Web pages   yes       
the link is on a 2nd level Webpage     yes     
the link is on a 3rd level Webpage       yes   

No such link is found         yes 

Security barrier, not accessible (excluding intranet or WebCT)  
found on homepage only yes         

found on more than one levels   yes       
found on 2nd level Webpage     yes     
found on 3rd level Webpage       yes   

not found         yes 
Manager section forbidden for access  

found on homepage only yes         
found on more than one levels   yes       

found on 2nd level Webpage     yes     
found on 3rd level Webpage       yes   

not found         yes 
Information arranged according to the management hierarchy (homepage only)  
On navigation bar, is Administration link           

the first link or in the first group of links? yes         
the second link or in the second group of links   yes       

the third link or in the third group of links     yes    
the fourth link or in the fourth group of links       yes   

no such link found         yes 
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1. The horizontal navigation bar should be treated the same as the vertical 

navigation bar when you count the first, second, or third link and so on. 

2. If the question refers to three levels down from the homepage, please check 

three levels down for each link on the navigation bar. 

3. Please code the Websites as soon as possible since the Website may change 

day by day.  

4. For locating the indicator, special title, you may try to type H.E., Honorable, 

Majesty, Excellency, Reverent, Highness, and Leader in a Search window found 

on the homepage. 

5. If you find a Website link does not work at the first try, please come back to the 

Website two or three days later. Sometimes, a Web link may break for a few 

days. After trying for several times and still not being able to make the connection, 

please inform me by email. We have to locate the new Web address. Otherwise, 

we have to change the Website. 

 

Thanks. 
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One country is selected from each of the 13 freedom levels. 
 
Free-country Group 
 
Level 1.0  Level 4.5  
Range: From 1 to 49 -- Sorted  Range: From 1 to 13 -- Sorted  
43 Spain  1 Armenia  
      
Level 1.5  Level 5.0  
Range: From 1 to 13 -- Sorted  Range: From 1 to 7 -- Sorted  
3 Ghana  2 Bahrain  
      
Level 2.0  Not-free-country Group 
Range: From 1 to 17 -- Sorted   
9 Mongolia  Level 5.5  
  Range: From 1 to 22 -- Sorted  
Level 2.5  4 Bhutan  
Range: From 1 to 11 -- Sorted      
11 Ukraine  Level 6.0  
  Range: From 1 to 6 -- Sorted  
   6 Vietnam  
Partly-free-country Group 
 
Level 3.0  Level 6.5  
Range: From 1 to 17 -- Sorted  Range: From 1 to 9 -- Sorted  
1 Albania  6 Laos  
      
Level 3.5  Level 7.0  
Range: From 1 to 12 -- Sorted  Range: From 1 to 8 -- Sorted  
11 Tanzania  1 Burma (Myanmar)  
      
Level 4.0     
Range: From 1 to 9 -- Sorted     
1 Bangladesh     
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One country is selected from each of the 13 freedom levels. Two college/university 
Websites are selected from each country. There are total of 26 college/university 
Websites. 
 
Level 1.0 Spain 
La Salle Universities    http://www.lasalleuniversities.net/
Saint Louis University    http://spain.slu.edu/
 
Level 1.5       Ghana 
University of Ghana    http://www.ug.edu.gh/
Valley View University    http://www.vvu.edu.gh/
 
Level 2.0 Mongolia 
Mongolian University of Science and Technology http://www.must.edu.mn/emust/
Health Sciences University of Mongolia  http://www.hsum.edu.mn/index.php
  
Level 2.5 Ukraine 
Ukrainian Catholic University   http://www.ucu.edu.ua/
Odessa State Medical University   http://www.arosmu.org/
 
Level 3.0 Albania 
Polis University    http://www.universitetipolis.org/
Academy of Sciences of Albania   http://www.academyofsciences.net/
 
Level 3.5 Tanzania 
Sokoine University of Agriculture   http://www.suanet.ac.tz/
University of Dar es Salaam   http://www.udsm.ac.tz/
 
Level 4.0 Bangladesh 
Bangladesh Univ. of Engineering & Technology http://www.buet.ac.bd/
Bangladesh Agricultural University  http://www.bau.edu.bd/
 
Level 4.5 Armenia 
Yerevan State University    http://www.ysu.am/
National Academy of Sciences of Armenia http://www.sci.am
    
Level 5.0 Bahrain 
Arabian Gulf University    http://www.agu.edu.bh/  
University of Bahrain    http://www.uob.bh/
 
Level 5.5 Bhutan 
Royal University of Bhutan    http://www.rub.edu.bt/
Sherubtse College    http://www.sherubtse.edu.bt/
 
 
 

 123

http://www.lasalleuniversities.net/
http://spain.slu.edu/
http://www.ug.edu.gh/
http://www.vvu.edu.gh/
http://www.must.edu.mn/emust/
http://www.hsum.edu.mn/index.php
http://www.ucu.edu.ua/
http://www.arosmu.org/
http://www.universitetipolis.org/
http://www.academyofsciences.net/
http://www.suanet.ac.tz/
http://www.udsm.ac.tz/
http://www.buet.ac.bd/
http://www.bau.edu.bd/
http://www.ysu.am/
http://www.sci.am/
http://www.agu.edu.bh/en/index.asp
http://www.uob.bh/
http://www.rub.edu.bt/
http://www.sherubtse.edu.bt/


 

Level 6.0 Vietnam 
Viet Nam National University, Hanoi  http://www.vnu.edu.vn
Ho Chi Minh City National University  http://www.vnuhcm.edu.vn/
 
Level 6.5 Laos 
National University of Laos    http://www.nuol.edu.la/
Sengsavanh College    http://www.sbc.laopdr.com/
 
Level 7.0 Burma 
University of Computer Studies, Yangon  http://www.ucsy.edu.mm/
Myanmar Institute of Theology   http://www.mitheology.net/index.html
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Three countries are selected from each of the 13 freedom levels. 
 
Free-country Group 
  6 Nigeria 
Level 1.0  7 Sri Lanka 
Range: From 1 to 49 -- Sorted   
5 Barbados  Level 4.5 
11 Cyprus Range: From 1 to 13 -- Sorted 
47 United Kingdom  6 Jordan 
   11 Nepal 
Level 1.5  12 Singapore 

Range: From 1 to 13 -- Sorted   
1 Belize Level 5.0 
2 Bulgaria  Range: From 1 to 7 -- Sorted 
7 Japan 2 Bahrain 
   5 Fiji 
Level 2.0  7 Yemen 

Range: From 1 to 17 -- Sorted 
2 Argentina  Not-free-country Group 
3 Benin  Level 5.5 
7 Dominican Republic  Range: From 1 to 22 -- Sorted 
   9 Egypt 
Level 2.5  13  Oman 
Range: From 1 to 11 -- Sorted 16 Russia 
3 India 
4 Indonesia Level 6.0 
6 Lesotho Range: From 1 to 6 -- Sorted 
  3 Iran 
Partly-free-country Group 
  4  Iraq 
Level 3.0  6  Vietnam 
Range: From 1 to 17 -- Sorted 
8 Kenya  Level 6.5 
15 Philippines  Range: From 1 to 9 -- Sorted 
17 Turkey  1 Belarus 
   2 China 
Level 3.5 8 Syria 
Range: From 1 to 12 -- Sorted 
3 Guatemala Level 7.0 
4 Liberia Range: From 1 to 8 -- Sorted 
11 Tanzania  5 Somalia 
   6 Sudan 
Level 4.0  8 Uzbekistan 
Range: From 1 to 9 -- Sorted   
1 Bangladesh 
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Three countries are selected from each of the 13 freedom levels. Four college/university 
Websites are selected from each country. There are total of 156 college/university 
Websites. 
 
Free-country Group 
 
Level 1.0 
 
Barbados 
University of the West Indies  http://www.cavehill.uwi.edu/
Barbados Community College   http://www.bcc.edu.bb/
Queen's College of Barbados  http://schools.org.bb/queens/
Samuel Jackman Prescod Polytechnic  http://www.sjpp.edu.bb/
 
Cyprus 
University of Cyprus     http://www.ucy.ac.cy/
Cyprus College     http://www.cycollege.ac.cy/
Cyprus College of Art    http://www.artcyprus.org/
Cyprus International Institute of Management  http://www.ciim.ac.cy/
  
United Kingdom 
Oxford University     http://www.ox.ac.uk/
University of Cambridge    http://www.cam.ac.uk/
The University of Edinburgh   http://www.ed.ac.uk/
University of Leeds     http://www.leeds.ac.uk/
 
Level 1.5 
 
Belize 
St. Matthew's University    http://www.stmatthews.edu/
Galen University     http://www.galen.edu.bz/
University of Belize     http://www.ub.edu.bz
Sacred Heart College (Belize)   http://www.shc.edu.bz/jc/
 
Bulgaria 
Bulgarian Academy of Sciences    http://www.bas.bg
University of Plovdiv    http://www.uni-plovdiv.bg/
Sofia University of St. Kliment Chridski  http://www.uni-sofia.bg/
American University in Bulgaria   http://www.aubg.bg/
 
Japan 
University of Tokyo     http://www.u-tokyo.ac.jp/
Waseda University    http://www.waseda.jp/top/w125/index.html
Osaka University     http://www.osaka-u.ac.jp/eng/index.html
Hokkaido University     http://www.hokudai.ac.jp/en/index.html
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Level 2.0 
 
Argentina 
Universidad Nacional de La Plata   http://www.unlp.edu.ar/
Universidad Nacional de Cordoba   http://www.unc.edu.ar/  
Universidad Nacional de Mar Del Plata  http://www.mdp.edu.ar/
Universidad Nacional de San Juan  http://www.unsj.edu.ar/
 
Benin 
Institut de Mathematiques et de Sciences Physiques http://www.imsp-uac.org/
Universite d'Abomey-Calavi   http://www.uac.bj.refer.org/
Ecole Nationale d'Economie Appliquee et de Management http://www.eneam-uac.org/
Ecole Normale Superieure    http://www.ens.fr
 
Dominican Republic 
Instituto Tecnologico de Santo Domingo  http://www.intec.edu.do/
Pontificia Universidad Catolica Madre Y Maestra http://www.pucmmsti.edu.do/
Universidad APEC     http://www.unapec.edu.do/
Universidad Abierta para Adultos    http://www.uniabierta.edu.do/
 
Level 2.5 
 
India 
Indian Institute of Technology   http://www.iitd.ernet.in/
Indian Institute of Science    http://www.iisc.ernet.in/
University of Kerala     http://www.keralauniversity.edu/
Jawaharlal Nehru University    http://www.jnu.ac.in/
 
Indonesia 
Petra Christian University    http://www.petra.ac.id/
University of Lampung    http://www.unila.ac.id/
University of Indonesia    http://www.ui.edu/  
Brawijaya University   http://www.geocities.com/Athens/Forum/1819/
 
Lesotho 
Machabeng College     http://www.machcoll.co.ls/
National University of Lesotho   http://www.nul.ls/
Lesotho Institute of Accountants   http://www.lia.org.ls/
Lesotho Institute of Public Administration  http://www.lipam.org.ls/
 
 
Partly-free-country Group 
 
Level 3.0 
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http://www.unlp.edu.ar/
http://www.unc.edu.ar/modules/seccion_portal/?b=1&id=1&idsec=9
http://www.mdp.edu.ar/
http://www.unsj.edu.ar/
http://www.imsp-uac.org/
http://www.uac.bj.refer.org/
http://www.eneam-uac.org/
http://www.ens.fr/
http://www.intec.edu.do/
http://www.pucmmsti.edu.do/
http://www.unapec.edu.do/
http://www.uniabierta.edu.do/siteuapa.net/default.aspx
http://www.iitd.ernet.in/
http://www.iisc.ernet.in/
http://www.keralauniversity.edu/
http://www.jnu.ac.in/
http://www.jnu.ac.in/
http://www.petra.ac.id/
http://www.unila.ac.id/
http://www.ui.edu/english/index.php
http://www.geocities.com/Athens/Forum/1819/
http://www.machcoll.co.ls/
http://www.nul.ls/
http://www.lia.org.ls/
http://www.lipam.org.ls/


 

Kenya 
International School of Kenya   http://www.isk.ac.ke/
The Catholic University of Eastern Africa  http://www.cuea.edu/
Kenya Coast University    http://www.kenyacoastuniversity.org
University of Nairobi     http://www.uonbi.ac.ke/
 
Philippines 
University of the Philippines   http://www.up.edu.ph/
De La Salle University    http://www.dlsu.edu.ph/
Far Eastern University    http://www.feu.edu.ph/
University of Santo Tomas    http://www.ust.edu.ph/
 
Turkey 
Cukurova University     http://www.cu.edu.tr/
Istanbul Technical University   http://www.itu.edu.tr/e/
Hacettepe University    http://www.hacettepe.edu.tr
Istanbul Bilgi University    http://www.ibun.edu.tr/
 
Level 3.5 
 
Guatemala 
Universidad del Istmo    http://www.unis.edu.gt/
Universidad del Valle de Guatemala    http://www.uvg.edu.gt/
Universidad Francisco Marroquin   http://www.ufm.edu.gt/
Universidad Mariano Galvez de Guatemala http://www.umg.edu.gt/#
 
Liberia 
University of Liberia     http://www.tlcafrica.com/lu/lu.htm
Cuttington University    http://www.cuttington.org/
W.V.S. Tubman College of Technology http://www.tubmancollegeoftechnology.org/
Liberia Institute for Strategic Policy and Int. Relations http://www.lispir.org/aboutus.php
 
Tanzania 
The Hubert Kairuki Memorial University  http://www.hkmu.ac.tz/
University of Dar es Salaam   http://www.udsm.ac.tz/
Sokoine University of Agriculture   http://www.suanet.ac.tz/
Makumira University College    http://www.makumira.ac.tz/
 
Level 4.0 
 
Bangladesh 
Intl. University of Business Agriculture and Technology   http://www.iubat.edu/
North South University    http://www.northsouth.edu/
Institute of Marine Science and Fisheries http://www.imscu.ac.bd/index.asp
Bangladesh Agricultural University  http://agri-varsity.tripod.com/
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http://www.itu.edu.tr/e/
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http://www.ibun.edu.tr/
http://www.unis.edu.gt/
http://www.uvg.edu.gt/
http://www.ufm.edu.gt/
http://www.umg.edu.gt/
http://www.tlcafrica.com/lu/lu.htm
http://www.cuttington.org/
http://www.tubmancollegeoftechnology.org/
http://www.lispir.org/aboutus.php
http://www.hkmu.ac.tz/
http://www.udsm.ac.tz/
http://www.suanet.ac.tz/
http://www.makumira.ac.tz/
http://www.iubat.edu/
http://www.northsouth.edu/
http://www.imscu.ac.bd/index.asp
http://agri-varsity.tripod.com/


 

Nigeria 
West Africa Theological Seminary  http://www.watsonline.org/
University of Ibadan     http://www.ui.edu.ng/
Olabisi Onabanjo University    http://www.oou-ng.com/
Lagos Business School    http://www.lbs.edu.ng/
 
Sri Lanka 
University of Peradeniya    http://www.pdn.ac.lk/
University of Moratuwa    http://www.mrt.ac.lk/
University of Colombo    http://www.cmb.ac.lk/
Asia Pacific Institute of Information Technology http://www.apiit.edu.lk/
 
Level 4.5 
 
Jordan 
Princess Sumaya University for Technology http://www.psut.edu.jo/
Mu'tah University     http://www.mutah.edu.jo/  
University of Jordan     http://www.ju.edu.jo/
Queen Noor Civil Aviation Technicle School http://www.qnac.edu.jo/
 
Nepal 
Tribhuvan University    http://www.tribhuvan-university.edu.np/
Nepal Medical College    http://www.nmcth.edu/
Kantipur College of Management   http://www.kcmit.edu.np/
Nepal College and Management   http://www.ncm.edu.np/index.php
 
Singapore 
National University of Singapore   http://www.nus.edu.sg/
Nanyang Technology University   http://www.ntu.edu.sg/publicportal/
Singapore Management University  http://www.smu.edu.sg/
Raffles Design Institute Singapore http://www.raffles-design-institute.edu.sg/
 
Level 5.0 
 
Bahrain 
University of Bahrain    http://www.uob.bh/en/index.asp
Medical University of Bahrain   http://www.rcsi-mub.com/default.asp
Bahrain Institute of Banking    http://www.bibf.com/Website/index.htm
Ahlia University     http://ahliauniversity.edu.bh/home.htm
 
Fiji 
Fiji School of Medicine    http://www.fsm.ac.fj/
St. John's College      http://www.sjcawaci.school.fj/
University of Fiji     http://www.unifiji.ac.fj
Fiji institute of Technology    http://www.fit.ac.fj/
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http://www.fit.ac.fj/


 

Yemen 
 American Institute for Yemeni Studies  http://www.aiys.org/
Yemen College of Middle Eastern Studies   http://www.ycmes.org/
Sanaa Institute for the Arabic Language  http://www.sialyemen.com/
Queens Arwa University    http://www.y.net.ye/arwauniversity
 
Not-free-country Group 
 
Level 5.5 
 
Egypt 
Ain Shams University    http://net.shams.edu.eg/
Kasr Alainy      http://www.medicine.cu.edu.eg/beta/
Helwan University     http://Web.helwan.edu.eg/helwan2/
Nile University     http://www.nileu.edu.eg/
 
Oman 
Muscat College     http://www.mctcollege.com/
Oman Aircraft Control College   http://www.omanacc.com/
Oman Medical College    http://www.omc.edu.om/
Sulton Qaboos University    http://www.squ.edu.om/
 
Russia 
Saint-Petersburg State University   http://www.spbu.ru/e/
Moscow State University    http://www.msu.ru/en//
Moscow Institute of Agriculture   http://www.miarch.ru/  
Saint-Petersburg State Polytechnical University http://www.spbstu.ru/  
 
Level 6.0 
 
Iran 
The University of Isfahan    http://www2.ui.ac.ir/welcome.php
Shiraz University     http://www.shirazu.ac.ir/  
University of Tehran     http://www.ut.ac.ir/  
Sharif University of Technology   http://www.sharif.ir/  
 
Iraq 
University of Dohuk     http://www.dohukuni.net/  
Salahaddin University    http://www.salahaddin-ac.com/
University of Iraq     http://www.iraquniversity.net/
University of Kurdistan Hawler   http://www.ukh.ac/
 
Vietnam 
Hue University     http://www.hueuni.edu.vn/
Vietnam National Univ. at Hanoi    http://www.vnu.edu.vn/
Can Tho University     http://www.ctu.edu.vn

 132

http://www.aiys.org/
http://www.ycmes.org/
http://www.sialyemen.com/
http://www.y.net.ye/arwauniversity
http://net.shams.edu.eg/
http://www.medicine.cu.edu.eg/beta/
http://web.helwan.edu.eg/helwan2/
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http://www.ctu.edu.vn/index_e.php


 

Vietnam National Univ. at Ho Chi Minh City http://www.vnuhcm.edu.vn
 
Level 6.5 
 
Belarus 
International Sakharov Environmental Univ. http://www.iseu.by/  
Grodno State Medical University   http://www.grsmu.by/  
Novopolotsk Technical University   http://www.novtu.org/
Mogilev State University    http://www.bymsu.org/
 
China 
Peking University     http://en.pku.edu.cn/
Tsinghua University     http://www.tsinghua.edu.cn/  
Fundan University     http://www.fudan.edu.cn/
Beijing Normal University    http://www.bnu.edu.cn/
 
Syria 
Syrian Virtual University    http://www.svuonline.org/
Damascus University     http://www.damasuniv.shern.net/  
Tishreen University     http://www.tishreen.shern.net/  
Wadi German Syrian University   http://www.wgsu.edu.sy/index.php
 
Level 7.0 
 
Somalia 
Mogadishu University    http://www.mogadishuuniversity.com/
Amoud University     http://www.amouduniversity.net/
University of Burao     http://www.buraouniversity.com/
Nugaal University     http://www.nugaaluniversity.com/
 
Sudan 
University of Juba     http://www.juba.edu.sd/
Sudan University of Science and Technology http://www.sustech.edu/
Ahfad University for Women   http://www.ahfad.org/
Alzaiem Alazhari University   http://www.alazhari.net/  
 
Uzbekistan 
International Business School   http://www.ibs.uz/
Tashkent Financial Institute   http://eng.tfi.uz/
Smarkand State Institute of foreign Languages http://sifl.50megs.com/  
Gulistan State University     http://www.tishreen.shern.net /  
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APPENDIX J 
 

ANOVA RESULTS FOR TEN PROPOSED INDICATORS 
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 Not-free-
country group 

 (n=48) 

Partly-free-
country 

group (n=48) 

Free-country 
group  
(n=48) 

 
 

 

Indicators Mean SD Mean SD Mean SD F p 

Symmetric layout  3.00 1.368 2.75 1.407 2.58 1.541 1.017 .364 

Special title .88 1.299 .79 1.237 .10 .425 7.587 .001* 

Monumental building 3.27 1.333 2.56 1.649 2.29 1.713 4.955 .008* 

Official stamp/logo 3.27 1.395 3.58 1.164 3.60 1.106 1.110 .332 

Authority figure 2.25 1.296 1.79 1.383 1.35 1.229 5.661 .004* 

Symbol of nationalism 
or religion 
 

1.02 1.451 .85 1.473 .27 .939 4.330 .015* 

Link to information on 
leaders of the 
organization 
 

3.17 1.078 2.90 1.341 2.19 1.424 7.380 .001* 

Security barrier, not 
accessible 
 

.40 1.180 .21 .849 .23 .857 .534 .587 

Manager section 
forbidden for access 
 

.08 .577 .00 .000 .04 .289 .600 .550 

Information arranged 
according to 
management 
hierarchy 
 

3.13 1.160 2.52 1.473 2.44 1.570 3.390 .036* 

 
Note. * p-value < p-critical of .05. 
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APPENDIX K 
 

POST HOC MULTIPLE COMPARISONS 
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95% Confidence 
Interval Dependent Variable (I) Freedom 

Groups 

(J) 
Freedom 
Groups 

Std. 
Error Sig. 

Lower 
Bound 

Upper 
Bound

Symmetric layout Free Partly-free .294 .838 -.86 .53
 Not-free .294 .335 -1.11 .28
 Partly-free Not-free .294 .673 -.95 .45

Special title Free Partly-free .217 .005* -1.20 -.17
 Not-free .217 .002* -1.29 -.26
 Partly-free Not-free .217 .922 -.60 .43

Free Partly-free .321 .677 -1.03 .49Monumental 
building Not-free .321 .008* -1.74 -.22

 Partly-free Not-free .321 .074 -1.47 .05
Official logo Free Partly-free .251 .996 -.57 .61

 Not-free .251 .381 -.26 .93
 Partly-free Not-free .251 .428 -.28 .91

Authority figure Free Partly-free .266 .231 -1.07 .19
 Not-free .266 .003* -1.53 -.27
 Partly-free Not-free .266 .201 -1.09 .17

Symbol of religion Free Partly-free .268 .078 -1.22 .05
 Not-free .268 .016* -1.38 -.12
 Partly-free Not-free .268 .808 -.80 .47

Leader link Free Partly-free .263 .022* -1.33 -.08
 Not-free .263 .001* -1.60 -.36
 Partly-free Not-free .263 .560 -.89 .35

Security barrier Free Partly-free .199 .994 -.45 .49
 Not-free .199 .680 -.64 .30
 Partly-free Not-free .199 .614 -.66 .28

Manager session Free Partly-free .076 .848 -.14 .22
 Not-free .076 .848 -.22 .14
 Partly-free Not-free .076 .518 -.26 .10

Free Partly-free .288 .955 -.77 .60
Not-free .288 .048* -1.37 .00

Management 
hierarchy  

Partly-free Not-free .288 .094 -1.29 .08
 
Note. * p-value < p-critical of .05. 
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TREND GRAPH FOR SIX PROPOSED INDICATORS 
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APPENDIX M 
 

PEARSON CORRELATION COEFFICIENT 
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Indicators r p 

Symmetric layout -.118 .079 

Special title -.284* .000 

Monumental building -.248* .001 

Official logo .111 .092 

Authority figure -.273* .000 

Symbol of religion -.229* .003 

Leader link -.298* .000 

Security barrier -.070 .201 

Manager session -.046 .292 

Mgt. hierarchy -.196* .009 
 

Note. N = 144 
 p< .01 (one-tailed). 
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APPENDIX N 
 

TREND GRAPH FOR FOUR PROPOSED INDICATORS 
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APPENDIX O 

 
CODING SHEET FOR PRINCIPAL RESEARCH 
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Please examine each Webpage carefully and circle the correspondent "yes." 
 
  Present         ------>          Not present 

Code 4 3 2 1 0 
Symmetric layout (homepage only)  

The Webpage is 100% symmetric yes         
The Webpage is 75% symmetric   yes       
The Webpage is 50% symmetric     yes     
The Webpage is 25% symmetric       yes   

The Webpage is not symmetric         yes 
Monumental building 
On the homepage                                        as the focus?  yes         

in the background?    yes       
On a 2nd level Web page                               as the focus?  yes      

 in the background?      yes     
On the 3rd level Web page/pages or beyond       yes    
On none of the Web pages         yes 
Symbol of nationalism or religion 

on homepage and beyond yes         
on homepage only  yes    

on the 2nd level page/pages    yes      
on the 3rd level Web page/pages or beyond      yes    

on none of the Web pages         yes 
Link to information about the leaders 

on every Web page yes         
on homepage and 2nd level Web pages   yes       

on homepage only    yes      
on the 2nd level Web page/pages and beyond       yes   

No such link is found         yes 
Information arranged according to the management hierarchy. Home link is not counted.  
On navigation bar, is the Administration link           

the first link or in the first group of links? yes         
the second link or in the second group of links   yes       

the third link or in the third group of links     yes    
the fourth link or in the fourth group of links       yes   

no such link found         yes 
Authority figure 

More than one on the homepage yes     
 One on the homepage  yes        

More than one on the 2nd level Webpage/pages   yes       
One on a 2nd level Web page     yes     

On the 3rd level Web page(s) and/or beyond      yes    
on none of the Web pages         yes 

Special title conferred on members (religious or political, like Rev., Majesty, Honorable) 
More than one on the homepage yes         

One on the homepage  yes    
More than one on the 2nd level Web page(s)   yes       

One on the 2nd level Web page     yes     
More than one on the 3rd  level Web page(s)      yes    

One on the 3rd level Web page and/or beyond    yes  
on none of the Web pages     yes 
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